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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Directors, in preparing this Strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.

This Strategic report has been prepared for the DAZN Group as 38 whole and therefore gives greater emphasis to those
matters that are significant to DAZN Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings when viewed as 3
whole (the “DAZN Group”, the “Group”).

DAZN’s vision

There are billions of sports fans around the world supporting a sports eco-system across television, advertising,
merchandise, apparel, betting, ticketing, and other sports activities worth hundreds of billions of dollars.

DAZN's vision is to be the global destination platform for sports fans to engage daily with a wide selection of sports content
and experiences.

DAZN is also becoming a distribution partner of chaice for sports rights holders. DAZN uniquely offers global reach, direct
relationship with fans of all generations, and a broader monetisation model for sports engagerment.

DAZNIis using technology to build 8 scalable global digital platform that aggregates today’s fragmented fan experience with
a personalised experience for every user.

This is a unique proposition and DAZN is the globa! leader driving the digitisation of sport.
History and Current developments

Founded in 2018, DAZN is a global player in the sports entertainment industry. DAZN’s sports channels and ogver-the-top
[OTT) live streaming service are availabie to customers woridwide.

Since inception DAZN has been scaling its service geographically and grawing its investment in sports content. In 2021-
2022 DAZN significantly deepened its offering of the most popular local sports in Germany, ltaly and Spain.

Key milestones since launch in 2016 to 2022;
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In 2023 DAZN is continuing to deepen its geographic presence with the acquisition of Eleven Sports adding Belgium,
Portugal ang Talwan, and 2 Jocalised Jaunch in France including duimestic football from Liguc Un. At a global level, from the
start of the 2023/24 season, DAZN became the NFL's strategic partner to deliver the NFL Game Pass International,
exclusively to customers arcund the warld.

In additicn to providing a2 world class sports streaming service, DAZN js focused on expanding its groduct services, with the
launch of DAZN Bet, a venture established with IBID Investment Ltd with the results fully consolidated into DAZN Group. The
Campany also has announiced important partriershigs with licensed sporting merchandise provider Fanatics, and ticketing
platform Daimani. These will bring more sports experiences to DAZN's platform over time.

DAZN is proud to be a major investar in Women’s Footbali. BAZN obtained the rights for the UEFA Women's Champions
League from the 2021/22 season and continues to invest in more global content. DAZN offers a wide-ranging portfolio of
women's football from Spain, Germany, England and the US on a worlgwide basis. Supporting the growth of Women's
Footballis a long-term strategic priority.

Business and Financial Progress

DAZN's business is driven by its partfolio of sports content which is enhanced by a unigue digital customer experience.
DAZN has long-standing relationships with rights owners that have enabled it to increase investment in content which in-
turn attracts more customers to DAZN's platform. DAZN generates revenue from customers, with subscriptions and
advertising, and is continually investing inits product and technology te improve user experience and deepen engagement
with its customers.
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STRATEGIC REPORT [CONTINUED)

In 2022, UAZN's revenue was $2,197.3 million, an increase of $639.1 or

41.0% compared to 2021, Group Revenue ($millions)

This incresse includes the impact of fereign exchange movements. DAZN

receives its revenue in foreign currencies with the majority in Euros. In @
2023 the US Dallar strengthened against most currencies and in particular 2,397

the Euro [sbout 6%) which is the currency for the majority of DAZN's
receipts. If nunuelised fol cdrrency movements, DAZN's revenue growth
would have been higher.

1.658

[n addition, the 2022 Qatar FIFA World Cup took place, uniquely, during the
winter period in Europe and led to 8 longer winter break in European football
seasons. This impacted revenue and the recognition of rights costs in 2020 2027 2022
2022, as there were less games taking place in the Eurcpean demestic
leagues in 2022 and more matches in 2023.

DAZN historically has two statutary reporting segments. Revenue from DAZN's direct to Cansumer business increased by
$653.0 million to $2,722.6 million ($2021: $1,463.6 million] while in its Broadcast partnerships segmant fell by $19.9 million
to $74.7 million (2021; $94.6 million) reflecting competition cyclicality. In DAZN's Consumer business theincrease inrevenue
reflects DAZN's progress and success in three core areas:

i) Adding new content: For the start of the 2021/22 football season, DAZN added majar new content to its services in
Germany (Bundesliga/UEFA Champions League) and Italy (Serie A) and, for the 2022/23 season, in Spain [La Liga). This new
content drove an increase in the subscriber base, high levels of engagement and higher pricing for DAZN's subscription
offerings. The addition of new content is reflected in DAZN’s investment in sports rights. Rightscostsin 2022 were $2,366.5
million, anincrease of $442.2 million or 23% compared to 2027.

ii) Pricing and Proposition: DAZN's continued investment in its subscription product enabled the launch of a range of new
customer offerings including three subscription formats: annual gay upfront, annual pay monthly and pay monthiy, content
tiers with customers being able to choose a package of content matching their sporting interests, and pay-per-view offers
for some of the biggest one-off sporting events. This investment helped DAZN grow the revenue from subscribers.

iii) Advertising: DAZN customers are a highly valuable demographic for brands and advertisers. In 2022 DAZN investad to
develop its advertising product, enabling its digital advertising serving technology across more end-customer devices, and
scaling its advertising sales operation, The company believes advertising will grow to become a core proposition and
important element of monetisation over time.

In addition, DAZN benefited from economies of scale reflecting operational efficiency. DAZN delivered more content across
multiple markets without additiona! operating costs. Operating Costs excluding Rights costs were broadly flat at $893.9
million in 2022 faliing by $85.7 million or 8.7% comgared to 2021.

DAZN’s progress growing revenues led to an improvement in financial performance in 2022 reflecting the operational
leverage in the business. DAZN's Operating margin improved significantly by +38.6%pts to (48.4%) in 2022 compared to
(879%) in 2021.

With continued opportunity to grow subscription and advertising revenues and to diversify revenue sources with the
addition of new services including DAZN Bet, the Company is expected to continue growing and making strong progress
towards profitability.

Through 2022 the Company continued to receive support from its majarity shareholder, Al Perform Holdings LLF, which
provided $730.0 million in ardinary and preference share funding. Post the Balance Sheet Date, through 2023, DAZN
received $240.0 million of additicnal preference share funding as at the end of September 2023. The Company’'s net
Finance costs fell by $891.9 million ta $41.5 million compared to $933.4 million in 2021, This change is a result of DAZN
capitalising loans in 2021 which has reduced the Company's debt and interest charges in 2022,

The Group holds investments injaint ventures and associates. The fair value of these investments is assessed each year to
account far changing business and market conditions. This resulted in a combined fair value downward adjustmentin 2022
of $45.1 million (2021: $5.1 million). The Group also has Growth Preference Shares which are accounted for as compound
instruments. In 2022, s downward fair value adjustment of $51.0 million was recognised (2021: $ni).
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Directors believe that the Group’s strategic focus, continuing success in creating value fram its digital rights, its broad
product offering, the length and nature of existing contracts and its international customer base will protect and grow
future revenues. (n order to deliver and expand its range of services the Group needs to invest continucusly in software
development and technical hardware. This investment ensures that the Group remsains able to provide an innovative,
scalable and robust technica! platform and to detiver new and impraved products to the market and its customers. The
Groug plans to maintain this investment to deliver new products and services,

The licensing of sports rights is critical to the success of the business. Such rights are usually licensed for periods of
between three to five years. The majority of the Group’s revenue refdles to the DAZN Consumer business, where consumar
subscription periods are significantly shorter than the Group’s rights obligations. Where the Group is the princigal in
Broadcast Partnerships deals, rights obligations of Lhe Giuup gie yenerally longer than its broadeasting agreements with
customers, with the Group re-contracting broadcasters or entering new agreements over time. In these instances, the
Directors maonitor the Jevel of this contract exposure and endeavour, wherever possible, to progress revenue contract
rengwal negotiations well before the contracts are due to terminate, thus limiting the financial risk of such exposure.

in additian to the risks set out above, additional principal risks are set out in the table below, a!l of which were considered
risks at the priar year end.

Risk Impact and mitigating actions

Liquidity risk The Group has made significant lasses In the current financial year and, at present, remains
dependent on the continued sugport of its shareholders to fund its operations. The Group also has
high fixed costs, such as commitments to acquire rights in the DAZN Consumier busingss. While in
the medium term the Group expects to fund these rights from operating cash flows, there are
significant short-term funding reguirements in order to maintain and grow the business. The
Group regularly forecasts cash flows and takes appropriate actions to improve working capital,
minimising the need for shareholder funding and ensuring that it has sufficient funds to meet its
ligbilities as they fall due. This has included securing @ new external funding facility worth $100
million during 2023. Refer to the going concern section of the Directors’ report and note 1.

Cyber risk and The Group’s operations reiy on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential

personai data and other information in our IT systems and networks. Although the Group takes protective
measures and endeavours to modify them as circumstances warrant, IT systems, software and
networks may be vulnerable to intrusion or other security breaches, sabotage, hacking, denial of
service attacks, viruses or cybercrime (both internally and by third parties). If one or more of such
events occur, this potentially could jeopardize the Group’s clients’ confidential and other
information processed, stored in, and transmitted through computer systems and networks, or
otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in operations which couid result in significant
losses, requlatory censure and reputational damage. Where the information constitutes personal
data, such as customer ar employee data, this could expose the Group to fines imposed by dota
pratection authcrities arlegal action.

The Group regularly works with clients, vendors, service providers, counterparties and other third
parties to develop secure transmission capabilities where possitle, The Group continues to invest
in the legal and requlatory compliance function and ensure compliance with the Genersl Data
Protection Reguiation. The Group limits the storage of personal data where possible and does not
hold any customer payment data.

Dependency on digital The Group is dependent on third-party internet, mobile and other technology and service

technologies and providers to deliver its products and services. However, the ultimate control of these platforms
communications and technologies is outside of Management's control. The Group constantly monitors changes in
networks technological trends which could affect the sustainability, usability and economic visbility of its

products and services to minimise and mitigate the adverse impact that may result. The Group
has also experienced occasional service interruptions of varying severity as a result of third-party
or internal technological issues. The Group invests in technology and resources to ensure these
outages are isolated and, where applicabie, offers refunds to custocmers impacted.
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Principal risks and uncertainties {continued)

Risk

Rights costs and
margin

Protection of the
Group's content,
brands and intellectual
property

Exchange risk

Broadcast regulatory

Products

Litigation risk

Cost of living crisis and
eCoNoOmIc uncertainty

irmpact and mitigating actions

Acquiring rights usually takes place through competitive tender processes. Therefore, the
outcome of rights renewals/acquisitions is uncertain. There is a risk that the Group will experience
higher costs for rights it renews/acquires, or the Group is autbid for, or chooses not to acquire or
renew, certain rights it would like. The Group has a specific team focused an the acquisition and
management of rights. Management cantinuously assesses the Group’s requirements for rights-
cleared content (including careful assessment of the economic viability of each set of rights) in
order to ensuwie that it makes strategically approgriate and economically informed decisions. The
Group has a highly developed approach to the selection of rights and the scheduling of contentin
its services to ensure that value is derived from the rights purchases it makes.

The digital ecosystem brings with it an inherent risk of content piracy and rights/IP infringement.
If substantial piracy of certain elements of the Group’s content were to occur this may diminish
demand for, or the value of, some of the Group's services. The Group monitors infringement of its
content, brands and intellectual property rights and continues to develop a range of strategies
with which to respond where required.

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue and costs are in Sterting, Euros, Dollars and Yen and
the Group is increasingly exposed to trading in other currencies given the territories in which it
operates. Management prepares cash flow forecasts by currency to identify currency exposures,
which are reviewed and reported on a weekly basis. Where it is appropriate to do sg, attempts are
made to naturally hedge the Group's exposures. Where this is not possible, management consider
whether an appropriate derivative instrument should be utilised to mitigate the risk.

The Group may be prohibited from operating its DAZN platform service and any linear channels in
Key markets if it does not hold the applicable broadcast regulatory licence(s) from the appropriate
regulator. The Group has put in place experienced compliance teams who keep a watching brief
on the nature and type of regulatory licences reguired, and who ensure that the content on our
service complies with the applicable broadcasting codes.

Constant technological and user behaviour changes necessitate that the Group engages in
continucus and sometimes rapid product development. Management are highly focused on
ensuring that the Group makes maximum progress in this respect, but the Group's strategy or its
product innovations may not be successful ormay take fonger to deliver to the market or monetise
than anticipated. This could impact the Group’s economic performance.

In the ordinary course of business, the Group could be involved in lawsuits, arbitrations and other
formal and informal dispute resolution procedures, the outcomes of which will determine the
rights and obligations under contractual agreements. The Group could alsa be involved, from time
to time, in investigations and requlatory proceedings, certain of which could result in adverse
judgments, settlements, fines and other outcomes. The financial impacts of legal risks might be
considerable but are difficult to estimate or quantify, so thaf amounts eventually paid may exceed
the amount of provisions set aside to cover such risks.

In recent times, tha cost of living has increased due to high levels of inflaticn across the US and
Europe. The increased cost of living and high levels of economic uncertainty are likely to lead to
customers in core markets having less disposable income, which in turn could impact subscriber
numbers.

Despite these challenges, the Group expects revenue growth to continue given the large portfolio
of high-profile rights, the relatively inelastic demand profile of sports fans, and the comparatively
low grice point for the product compared to average household expenditure. The Group has aiso
secured several long-term contracts with distributors across Europe, many of which have
minimum guaranteed revenues that could help protect the Group’s revenues from potential
demand fluctuations.



DAZN GRGUP LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

Section 172 ~ Stakeholder engagement

The Directors have had regard to a variety of stakeholders other than the Group's shareholders when making strategic

business decisions. The Group is committed to engaging and refiecting on stakeholder needs through regular dialogue and
communication. The Directors recognise the unique nature of relationships with different key stakeholders and the

dependencies of different elements of the business upon them. Relationships with key stakeholders are managed through
relevant engagement activities in order to inform the Board in their decision making and delivery of strateqy.

The key stakeholder groups and mechanisms of enganement are set out below.

Stakeholder

fstnmers

Employees

Relationship and engagement activities

The DAZN business has customers in over 200 territories. DAZN engages with its customers
principally through its digital application whichi s avanavle in app sluies, sina L TVs, mobile
devices, streaming media players, internet enabled set-top-boxes, and on the internet
Customers can register, subscribe and engage with DAZN services through this application.
DAZN’s customers are highly engaged with DAZN's services reflecting the weekly recurrence
of live sports.

DAZN has an active Customer Relationship Management (CRM) strategy, which notifies
customers about new and upcoming content on a weekly basis through email, notifications in
the application. Customers can aiso contact DAZN through self-service customer service
engaqging with DAZN's customer service agents.

As at 31 December 2022 the DAZN Group has approximately 2,500 employees operating
around the world. DAZN aims to maintain an engaged and motivated workforce to deliver the
best service for its customers. Through recruiting and retaining exceptional talent the Group
aims to build industry [eading teams at the forefront of technology, content and production,
media, operations and commercial, and business development.

The DAZN management team maintains active communication with employees, through
regular written/video communications and events, including regular global updates from the
CEO and employee town halls held physically and virtually.

DAZN is committed to being an inclusive, global company, promoting diversity, inclusion and
equity within the workplace, in addition to creating a more inclusive sports media industry. The
business has a dedicated Head of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) and has several
estabiished Employee Resource Groups (ERGs) and partnerships with external support
organisations as part of the OE| strategy.
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Section 172 - Stakeholder engagement (continued)

Stakeholder

Suppliers and Rights
Holgers

Community

Environment

Relationship and engagement activities

The Group's primary suppliers are rights holders providing content for the DAZN platform,
with DAZN rapidly becoming one of the largest acquirers of sports rights utilising over a
decade of experience in sports rights across almost every sport globally.

The Board remains committed to securing live sporting rights and highlights, often on an
exclusive basis. Securing and utilising rights is recognised as a collaborative process,
creating open and communicative relationships to develop and maintain glotal multi-year
relationships.

The Group follows a procurement framework to ensure appropriate governance, control
and engagement processes are adopted across key third-party supglier relationships,
alongside a third-party code of conduct. Additionally, DAZN operstes a Brand Safety policy
to ensure all advertising on DAZN platforms minimises the risk of ad misplacement and
aligns willy while and black lists to protect both clients and publisher partners.

A dedicated DE| (diversity, equity, and inclusion) function within the Pecple business
function is essential in the implementation of ermployee-related DEI pricrities. In 2022, the
Group continued to evolve its efforts including enhancing parental leave packages and
women’s health policies, setting up minority recruitment network partnerships that focus
on removing barriers to entry and the gender skills gap, and creating year-round bite sized
learning content on key inclusion topics.

To better amplify voices of employees from a diverse set of backgrounds, ERGs {employee
resource groups) were set up which are employee-led groups which aim to foster a diverse,
inclusive workplace, These help emgloyees contribute to how the business evolves with an
increased focus around diversity, provide suppart and inclusion for personal and/or career
development, and create forums to tackle social-related issues.

During the year, the Group produced a series of short features honouring key awareness
calendar moments, including Black History Month and International Women'’s Day.

As a business fecused an the delivery and broadcast of live sports events, the Directors
recognise the significance of the environment on the DAZN Group's operations, in addition
to the impacts that the Group has upon the environment. Climate change and the
associated impacts to global and local weather systems will have a direct impact on how
pecple play and experience live sport, which will in turn affect how it is broadcasted.

As a global business, the Directars are aware of the carbon footprint of the DAZN Group as
aresult of work-related travel, in addition to the significant energy outlays required to
operate data centres to support the DAZN streaming platform and production.

Data centres are an integral part to the DAZN Group's operations, facilitating the storage
and transfer of broadcast data underpinning the DAZN platform. This is recognised as a
key area of energy consumption within the tusiness, and as part of the global data centre
network, DAZN utilises sites in London where 100% of power is generated from
sustainable resources including water, wind and solar,

In 2022, the further relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions worldwide resulted in the Group’s
energy usage increasing (as per the Energy and Carbon reporting in the Directors’ report).
However, the use of cloud-based remote commentary continued to increase with 35% of
all DAZN consumer and broadcast partnership events utilising remote commentary. The
use of remote editing has also increased by 30% from 2021, with 68% of all edits remote in
2022 which reduces the travel requirements and associated environmental impact of the
events. Finally, since October 2022, UK boxing broadcasts from DAZN's partner
Matchroom have all been certified by ALBERT as being carben neutral productions.
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The Board takes into account the interests of its stakeholders during key decisions as part of their duty to promote the
success of the Group. The Directors act in a way they consider, in goad faith, would be most likely to promote the success

of the Group for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard to the following factors in relation to
Section172(1);

(8) The likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

[(b) Theinterests of the Groug’s employees;

(c) The need to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and athers;

(g1 Theimpact of the Group’s operations on the community and the environment;

(e) The desirabiity of the Group mainleining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
(f) The need to act fairly as between members of the Group.

The board approach to Section 172 and decision making

Strategy The aim of the DAZN Group is to make live sport more accessible and affordable. This has
customer centric focus, with the aim of bringing sports content to fans across the globe.
The Board undertakes continued reviews of customer and non-customer feedback
alongside customer data to identify rights for the Group to acquire and retain, while
maintaining close working relationships with rights holders. Additionally, the Board reviews
and approves the long-term forecasts for the Group, analysing future cashflows and rights
expenses in order to approve budgets and future strategic decisions.

Policies and practices The Board undertakes the delegation of policies and practices among the senior leadership
team and the areas of the business they have resgonsibility for, as well as acting as sponsars
for specific initiatives within the business. In the current financial year the senior leadership
team comgprised the following roles:

- Executive Chairman - Chief Legal Officer & Generaf Counsel
- Chief Executive Officer - Chief Marketing Officer

- Chief Financial Officer - Chief Operating Officer

- Chief Technology Officer - Chief Delivery Officer

- Chief Commercial Officer

After the balance sheet date there were further changes to the leadership team, including
Kevin Mavyer departing as Executive Chairman and Marc Watsen joining as Chief Commercial
Officer.

Training Targeted face to face management and leadership development sessions have been
delivered in multiple territories including the UK, Netherlands and Japan. The manager
support community on the Group’s intranet, “Managers’ Pitstop”, continues to provide
support in a number of areas including learning, engagement and for key global initiatives.
A dedicated online learning plan for Management and Leadership Development has also
been developed, together with 8 “Manager’'s Hub” tc provide a range of resources and
informeation to support their ahility to manage their people and teams,

The Group have focused on bringing as much learning as possible in-house foilowing a
partnershig with an aggregated online learning content provider, Open Sesame. This has
significantly reduced 3™ party supplier costs and allowed for targeted, functional learning to
specialist teams around DAZN. This included Security Awareness which enabled targeting
of specific audiences to ensure increased levels of completion of our mandatory Security
and Privacy Training.

New Starter training has evolved through additional content to help a new starter getup to
speed as quickly a5 possibile in their new role, including the creation of a8 New Starter Hub to
provide additional resources and information beyond the New Starter Training Plan.
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Section 172 - Stakeholder engagement (continued)

The board approach to Section 172 and decision making (continued)

Cu'ture

Future developments

in 2022 the Board updated the following Statement of Intent on Diversity, tquity, and
Inclusion with reference to levelling the playing field for all prospective employees:

“Spuils Tans gre the liteticod ot DAZN and the very reason we exist. To best serve them,
our global workforce must reflect the diversity of sports fans all around the world. We
recognize that having the strongest workforce possible means hiring and developing the
best people across all races, ethnicities, religions, age groups, sexual otienlastions, gender
identities and all abilities. We are committed to fostering an inclusive environment, both
inside and outside of our walls, that values equality and diversity - where everyone can
contribute at the highest level and their voices can be heard.”

QOur aim is to make our hiring processes as accessible for everyone as possible. We
continue to do aur best to accommaodate adjustments for interviews.

Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are discussed above.

The Strategic report has been appraved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by;

C&:}\
Shay Segev
Director

13 November 2023
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The Directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and auditor's
report, for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Future developments and events after the balance sheet date

Details of future developments and events that have occurred after the batance sheet date can e found in the Strategic
report and form part of this report by cross-reference.

Going concern

The Group had cash balances of $289.2 million (2021: $157.7 million) and borrowings of $272.7 million (2021: $172.0 million)
at the year end, resulting in @ nat cash position of $16.5 million (2021: net debt of $14.3 miliion). The Group had net current
liabilities of $291.4 million (2021: $119.3 million net current assets), net liabilities of $430.2 million (2021: $114.4 million net
assets) and made a loss after tax of $1,252.0 million (2021 $2,331.1 million]. The Group’s total cashflow from operating
activities is a cash outflow of $492.0 millian (2021: $1,231.1 million). The Group had future rights commitments of $7.6 tillion
(2021: $6.4 tillion) at 31 December 2022 that are not recognised in the statement of financial position. Refer to note 25 for
further detail on the timing of the payments relating to future rights commitments.

Having reviewed cash flow forecasts and budgets and having considered the financial support that the Group’s principal
sharehoider, Access Industries (“Access”) has confirmed it intends to provide to the Group through its fully owned
subsidiary Al Perform Holdings LLP, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have access to
sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being 8 period of at least 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial statements. As in prior periods, Access is nat legally obligated to provide
financial support. The Directors have considered a range of factors in order to make their going concern assessment,
including expected future demand for the Group's services, the revenue growth trends of the business, the history of
continued financial support from Access, throughout the financial year and during 2022 to date, and recent discussions
with the current sharehclders, who are also represented on the Group’s board, on the Group’s cash flows forecast, and
budgets for the perind to 2027, including forecast funding reguirements. This assessment has included consideration of
the recent cost of living crisis, and its resulting impact on future revenues, results from operations and cash flows. The
directors have also consigdered Access' ability to provide funding and concluded that Access have sufficient funds o
provide support to the Group where required. For further details refer to note 1.

The Group continues its strategy of rights acquisitions in order to support the ongoing growth of DAZN, driving a growth in
underlying subscriber bases in established and new markets, as well 8s continuing to invest in technology.

The Group has prepared a detailed financial forecast for the 12 months following approval of these financial
statements. These forecasts indicate that, based on management’s assumptions, the Group is likely to require additionaf
funding during this period in crder to discharge all obligations as they fall dua.

The Group’s principal shareholder, Al Perform Holdings LLP (8 member of the Access Industries group), has confirmed its
intention to cantinue to provide financial support ta the Group to enable the Group to ensure that they are able to meet their
liabilities as they fall due and therefore to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements. In the period betweer the year end and the signing of the accourits Access has
provided $240.0 million of cash funding to DAZN, in exchange for ordinary and growth preference shares, to support its
investment and growth plans.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's attivities expose it to a number of financial risks including cash flow risk, credit risk and liguidity risk. The use
of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written
principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these risks. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
for speculative purposes.

Cash flow risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group
attempts wherever possible to naturally hedge those risks.

Credit risk
The Group's principal financial assets are bank baiances and cash, trade and other raceivatles and investments.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable toits trade receivables. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on the
financial asset's lifetime expected credit loss and histarical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information.
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED}

Ihe credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has no other significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties
and customers.

Liquidity risk

The Lroup mitigates liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operatiens and future
developments, Refer to further detgil on going concern abave and in note 1.

Dividends

The Directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend in respect of 2022 (2021: $nil).

Directors

The Directars, who served throughout the year and to the date of signing, except as noted, were as follows:

«  LincolnBenct;

o  Guillaume D'Hautevillg;

»  SimonDenyer - resigned as Director on 24 August 2022;

»  Stuart Epstein—resigned as Director on 30 June 2022;

»  John Gleasure;

«  Kevin Mayer —resigned as Director on 1March 2023;

*  Mitsuyuki Nakamura — appointed as Director on 22 July 2022, resigned as Director or 30 November 2022;
. Andrea Radrizzani — appointed as Director on 15 February 2023;
. Shay Segev —appninted as Director on 30 November 2022;
 John Skipper - resigned as Director on 13 May 2022,

e Paui Walker - resigned as Director on 1January 2023.

Directors’ indemnities

The Group has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of Directors of all Group companies, which
were made during the year and remainin force at the date of this report.

Political contributions
No political contributions were made during the year (2021: $nil).
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disab'ed persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abijlities of the applicant
concerned. If members of staff become disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the Group
centinues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group and the Company that the training
opportunities, carear development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be equitable to that of
other employees.

Employee engagement and consultation

The Group places considerable value on the invoivement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed on
matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group. This is achieved
through faorma) and informal communications throughout the year. Employees are consulted regularly on a wide range of
matters affecting their current and future interests. For further information refer to the stakeholder engagement section
of the Strategic report.

Business relationships

The Group is committed to fostering strong business relationships with suppliers, customers and others. For further
information refer to the stakeholder engagement section of the Strateqic report.

Research and development activities

The Group undertakes various research and development activities to create and develop new products and technology.
For further information refer to the Strategic report,



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Energy and carbon reporting

Tha Group complies with the statutory disclosure requirements in relation to UK energy use and carbon emissions, as
datailed below, with further reference made in the Section 172 disclosure in the Strategic report.

The emissions and enargy utilisation of the DAZN Group for years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out below.

2022 2021

Scope 2 emissions
Annual nuantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent resulting
from the purchase of electricity by the Graup forits own use 5781 804 tn
A figure, in MWh, which is the aggregate of the annual quantity of energy
consumed 5,435 Mwh 6,669 Mwh
Scope 3 emissions
Annual quantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent resulting
from indirect activities 2,667tn 1,115 tn
A figure, in MWh, which is the aggregate of the annual quantity of energy
consumed

10,464 MWh 4,618 MWh
Overall
Total tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent produced per each million dotlars of
revenue recognised during the year 1.5tn 1etn
Total Mwh consumed per each miilion doliars of revenue recognised during the
year 7.2 Mwh 7.2 MWh

As per the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG), emissions are divided intc 3 scopes. Scope 1 encompasses emissions from
activities owned or controfled by an organisation that release emissions into the atmosphere, these are direct emissions.
Scope 2 covers emissions released into the atmosphere associated with the consumption of purchased electricity, heat,
steam and cooling. These are indirect emissicns that are a conseguence of an organisation’s activities, but which occur at
a source that the organisation does not own or control. Scope 3 emissions arise as a consequence of an arganisation’s
actions, which occur at sources which the organisation daes not own or control and which are not classed as Scope 2.
These are upstream and downstrearn value chain emissions, as well as business travel by means not owned or controlled
by an organisation.

The DAZN Group is required to report an Scoge 1 and Scope 2 emissions within the UK and offshore area, as well as Scope
3 emissions in relation to business travel by means not controlled by the Group. Emissions from entities acquired by the
Group during the year are not material so have not been included in the reporting.

The DAZN Group Energy and Carbon emissions calculations have been calculated with reference to outputs from UK office
locations (Scope 1 and Scope 2), UK and rest of the worlg data centres [Scope 2) and all global Group travel by way of road,
rail, air and hotel nights (Scepe 3). The production activities of the Group within the UK are deemed to be included within
outputs for UK office Iocations. Dverseas production outputs as 8 non-UK Scope 2 putpust have not been reported.

All information used to produce the reporting above has been generated from internal information provided by the Group
facilities team alongside third party information provided for data centres and travel management partners. Direct
reference has been made to the UK Government Greenhouse Gas factors for conversion factors when calculating carbon
dioxide equivalent emissions and kwh energy consumption.

The annual quantity of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions and MWh has increased year on year. The further relaxation of
the COVIB-13 restrictions and increase in international travel resulted in a significant increase in global travel by Group
employees by air, road and rail, in addition to hotel nights, leading to anincrease in Scope 3 emissions. However, the Groups’
energy Usage in offices (as a result of various measures including reducing floor space], production facilities and data
centres (Scope 2 emissions) have fallen slightly, partially offsetting this increase.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Auditor
Each of the persoens who is 8 director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

e 5o faras the director is aware, there is no relevant sudit information of which the Company’s auditar is unaware;
and

+ the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is sware of that informaticn.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company’s auditor is Deloitte LLP. Deloitte LLP has expressed its willingness to cantinue in office as auditor and a
resolution ta reappoint it will be proposed at the forthcoming meeting of the Board.

Appraved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Shay Segev
Director

13 November 2023



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial staterments in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that Jaw the directors
have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"} as adopted by the United Kingdom and the Parent Company financial statements in accardance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicabie law), including
FRS 1071 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the directars must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of
the company for that period.

In preparing the Parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:
«  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentiy,;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are regsonable and prudent;
+  state whether United Kingdom Generally Accepted Actounting Practice has been followed; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1requires that directors:
. properly select and apply accounting policies;

. present information, including accounting policies, in @ manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

. provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial
position and financial performance; and

. assess the Company's ability to continue as 8 going concern.

The directors are responsikble for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accurdcy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance ang integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company’'s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financisl statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DAZN GROUP LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Oginion
In our gpinion:

» the financiai statements of DAZN Group Limited (the ‘Parent Company’] and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’] give a true
and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the
Group’s loss for the year then ended;

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
intrrnational accounting standards and Intennaliungl Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (JASB);

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generaily
Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™; and

s thefinancial statements have been prepared in accerdance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financisl statements which comprige:

« the consolidated income statement;

+ the consolidated statement of comprehensive incomae,

= theconsalidated and parent company statement of financial position;

+ the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
the consolidated staterment of cash flows; and

« therelated notes 1to 29 of the group financial statements and the related notes 1to 12 to the parent company
financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable
law, United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB.. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and
United Kingdam Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
staterments section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and approgpriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is approgriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any materigl uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The ather information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditar’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information within the snnual report. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstaternent in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infermation, we are required to
report that fact.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DAZN GROUP LIMITED

We have nothing to repart in this regard.
Responsibilities of directors

As explained mare fully in the directors’ respansitilities statement, the directors are respansibie for the preparatian of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and far such internal control as the

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or ertor, and to issue an auditar's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK] will always detect a material misstatermnent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statementsis located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsitilities. This description forms part of our auditar's report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irreguiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and reguiations. We design grocedures in fine
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capabile of detecting irregufarities, inciuding fraud is detsiled below.

We considered the nature of the Group's industry and its control environment, and reviewed the Group’s documentation
of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with iaws and regulations. We also enquired of
management and the directors about theilr own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those
that are specific to the group’s business sector,

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framewaork that the Group operates in, and identified the key
laws and regulations that:

. had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. This
included the UK Companies Act and tax legislations in the group’s various jurisdictions; and

. we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements
but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internai specialists including tax, valuation and IT
specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the arganisation for fraud and how and where
fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in revenue related to the accuracy of a
certain distribution agreement, and our procedures performed to address it are described below:

» we critically assessed the judgments made by management in the assessment of the acceunting implications of the
distribution agreerment;

. critically assessed how the distribution agreement should be accounted for under the IFRS 15 step model; and

. critically assessed the new service commitment clause including the accounting implications regarding its revenue
recognition.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of
management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we testad the
appropristeness of journal entries and ather adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are
unusual or outside the normal course of business,

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:
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» reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

= performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud,

« enquiring of management and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and patential litigation and claims, and
instances of pon-compliance with laws and regulations; and

+« reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

Report on other legal and requlatory requirements
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« theinformation given inthe strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
» the strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable lega! requirements.

In the light of the knowtedge and understanding of the Group and of the Parent Company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’
repart.

Matters on which we arerequired to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not baen kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our 3udit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting racords and returns; or

»  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified Dy law are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to reportin respect of these matters.
Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2008, Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s memgers as a
body, far our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

‘,f'; . - ,,
o0 S
S e,

Mark Tolley FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Reading, United Kingdom

13 November 2023



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Revenue

Other income

Operating costs

Share of results of joint ventures and associates
Group operating loss

Qperating margin

Finance income
Finance costs

Change in fair value of investments classified as fair value through
profit and loss

Change in fair value of preference shares classified as debt

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and operations
Group loss bafore tax

Taxation charge
Group loss for the year

Group loss attributable to:
Owners of the Parent
Non-contralling interests

Notes

23

23

2022
$'m

2,197.3
2.8
(3,260.4)
(3.3
(1,083.8)

{48.4%)

35
145.0]

(45.1)

(51.0)

(1,201.4)
[50.6)
(1,252.0)

(1,235.9)
(16.1)

2021
$'m

1,558.2
3.3
(2,903.9)
(2.9
(1,355.3)
87.0%)

1.3
(934.7)

{5.1)

(12,
(2,305.9)

{25.2)
(2,3317)

(2,331
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Group loss for the year

Other comprehensive income/[loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations

Share of ether comprehensive toss of joint ventures and associates
Reclassification of foreign exchange (losses)/gains on disposal
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable fo:
Owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests

Notes

23

2022
$m

(1,252.0)

(10.7)

(10.7)

(1,262.7)

(1,246.6)
(16.1}

2021
$'m

{2,331.1)

122.4
(0.5]
25.5

147.4

(2,183.7)

(2,183.7)
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Non-current assets
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right of use assets

Investment in sublease

Other receivables

Deterred tax asset

Investments in financial assets

Interests in joint ventures and associates
Invaestments in preference shares of associates
Total non-current assets

Current assets

Investment in sublease

Trade and other receivables
Inventory

Prepayments and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Lease liability

Trade and other payables
Provisions

Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities

Net current assets/{liabilities)

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability

Borrowings

Provisions

Deferred tax liability

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets/[liabilities)

Notes

12

13

n

16

2022
$m

8.2
75.5
14.5
44.2
12.6

4.7
236

1.9

15

9.4

196.1

1.6
3707
2.5
363.7
289.2
1,034.7

1,230.8

(10.6)
(1,232.3)
(27.5)
{55.7)
(1,326.1)

(291.4)

[54.8)
(272.7)
{5.9)
(1.5)
{334.9)

(1,661.Q)

(430.2}

2021
$m

8.2
64.3
7.6
53.1
13,
47
24.1
1.9
1.6
529
2415

2.1
181.0
7.8
480.1
157.7
828.4

1,088.9

(8.9)
(635.5)
(34.1)
(29.8)
(709.1)

119.3

(65.3)
72.m
(@1

(246.4)

(955.5)

4.4
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Notes 22,2”%' 2;2
Equity
Called-up share capital 21 39.7 35.6
Shara pramium 21 6,612.5 5,838.0
Own shares 21 (1.3) .4
Merger relief reserve 126.3 142.9
Capital redempticn reserve 5.8 622
Capital contiibulion reserve 63.9 64.5
Share-based payment reserve 22 42.6 24.4
Accumulated deficit (7,283.7) (6,032.3)
Foreign exchange reserve (65.7) (19.5)
Mon-controlling interest (16.3) -
Total shareholder deficit (430.2) Nn4.4

The financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

The financial statements of DAZN Group Limited, registered number 6324278, were approved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue 0n 13/11/2023.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

%\

Shay Segev
Director

13 November 2023
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Operating activities
Total loss for the year
Finance costs (net)
Tax expense {net)

Depreciation and amortisation (including acquisition intangible amortisation)
Change in fair value of investments at fair value through prufit and loss

Change in fair value of preference shares classified as dabt
Share of results of joint ventures and associates

Non-cash IFRS 2 charge

Loss on disposal

Unrealised foreign exchange movements

Operating cash flow movements before working capital
increase in trade and other receivables and prepayments
Increase in trade and other payables
Decrease/(Increase]) in inventaries

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions

Cash used by operations

Corporation tax payments

Cash fiow used in operating activities

Investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Expenditure on intangible assets

Issue of external loan receivable

Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and operations
Sublease income

Interest income

Cash flow from investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of lease principal

Repayment of lease interest

Proceeds fromi issues of shares

interest expense, bank fees and related charges paid
Cash flow from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalentsin the year

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

28
24

14

2022
$m

(1,252.0)
a5
50.6

58.8
451
51.0

4.4
30.5
(47.3)
(1,018.5)
(53.0)
594.2
5.0
(9.8)
(482.1)
(9.9)
(492.0)

(5.3)
(38.7)
(39.1)

2.2
3.5
(77.4)

[2.7)
(6.2)
730.0
(0.7
714.0

144.6
157.7
03.0)
289.2

2021
$'m

(2,331.7)
933.4
25.2

72.9
5.1

12.9

24.3
121
(47.8)
01,293.0)
(54.2)
149.7
(7.5
(20.3)
(1,225.3)
(5.8
(1,231.1)

(6.6)
(33.9)
16
0.6
1.2
(22.6)

1,100.0
M.6)
(2.0)
150.0
(0.8
1,230.6

(231
186.0

5.2}
1577
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies
Genera! Information

DAZN Group Limited (the Company) is a private company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies
Act 2006, The Company is limited by shares and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the registered
nffice is 12 [lammersimilh Crove, Londan, England, W6 7AP, United Kingdom. Copies of the Group accounts are
publicly availabie at the registered address or online from Companies House.

The Group uses proprietary content coliection, production and distribution capabilities to aenerate revenue through
a mix of licensing spurting content and media (advertising and sponsorship), aswell as delivery direct to consumers
via its subscription-based digital over the top (“OTT") service or via distribution partners. The Groug's operations
based on the commercialisation of multimedia sports content across multiple internet-enabled digital platforms
have been disposed of within the prior financial years.

These financial statements are presented in US Bollars because that is the currency in which the Group has receiven
funding and capital investrent Liroughout the current hinancial period. During the current financial year, the parent
Company changed its functional currency from Pound Sterling to US Dollars to reflect the change in economic
environment that the entity operates in. There have been no other changes to the functional currencies of individual
Group entities. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out below.

Adoption of new and revised standards

In the current yeer, the Groupg has apglied a number of amendments to [FRS Standards and Interpretations issued
by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that
begins an or after 1 January 2022 as follows:

Standard
Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments ta IAS16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual improvements to IFRS standards
2018-2020 cycle

Description

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
Property, plant and equipment — proceeds
before intended use

Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a
contract

Amendments to IFRS 1first time adoption
of international financial reporting
standards, IFRS 8 financial instruments,
IFRS 16 leases and 1AS 41 agriculture

Effective Date
1January 2022
1January 2022
1January 26022

1January 2022

The adoption of the above Standards has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts

reported in these financial statements.

New and Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial staternents, the Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRSs that have been issued but were not effective at the reporting date:

Standard

Amendments to IFRS17

Armendments to IFRS 17 — Comparative
information

Amendments to IAS 1and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to lAS 12

Amendments tolAS 8
Amendments to IAS1

Amendments to [AS 1
Amendment to IFRS 16

Description

Insurance Contracts
Comparative information on initial
application af IFRS 17

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
Definition of Accounting Estimates
Classification of liabilities as current or non-
current

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Effective Date
1January 2023
1January 2023
1January 2023
1January 2023

1January 2023
1January 2024

1January 2024
1 January 2024
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies (continued)
New and Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

The Directors do not expect that the adoptions of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group in future periods.

Audit exemptions

The following subsidiaries, all af which are incorporated in England and Wales and are sl included above are exempt
in the current (and previous) reporting period from the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the
andit nf individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of that Act:

Company registration

Company name number
DAZN DACH Holdco Limited 10110432
DAZN Japan Holdco Limited 10110436
DAZN Media Holdco Limited 13074409
DAZN Media Sales Limited 5160606
DAZN MR Haldco Limited 1252400
DAZN SCA Limited 9675485
DSN Holdco Limited 9479148
DAZN Brand Licensing Limnited 13572068
DAZN Holdco 1 Limited 08426667
DAZN Media Channels Limited 05645564
DAZN Production Services Limited 13844882
DAZN PFL Holdco Limited 14434195

Basis of accounting

The Group’s consolidated financial staterments have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance
with applicabie international Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs] issued by the internationaf Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Expenses within the consolidated Income statement have been analysed By nature.

The financia! statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair vaiue at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange
for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a ligbility in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or lisbility at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financia! statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 1AS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

The principal accounting palicies adopted are set out as foliows.
Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company made up to 31 December each year, Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
e isexposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Actounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over
the investee when the vating rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Company considered alf refevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

»  the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

=  potentia! voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
s jights anging from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Company gains control until the date
when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the
members of the Group are eliminated on consotidation.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive incame are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controliing interests. Total comprehansive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controliing interests having a deficit
balance.

(8) Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations
or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather
than the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

(&) Jointventures

Ajointventureis ajoint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing controi.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (see below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet,

(c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in 3 joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee butis not control or joint control over these policies.

The results, assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in the financial statements using
the equity method, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 5. Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or toss, and the Group's share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received ar receivable from assaciates and joint ventures are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
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DAZN GRCUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies (continued]
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group's share of losses of an associste or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture {which inciudes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venturae), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additiona! losses
are recognised only tfo the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group for the sale or purchase of assets,
profits and lnosses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognises in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or jeint venture that are not related
to the Group. When a Group entity interacts with an associate or joint venture under a service agreement not
involving the transfer of assets, the related income or expenditure is recognised in the Group's consolidated
earnings from the associate or joint venture.

The requirements of lAS 36 are agplied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’sinvestmentin an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 1AS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount {higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any imgairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases te be an assaciste
or 3 joint venture. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or 3 joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value on initial recognition in
accardance with IFRS 9, The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or 3 joint venture at the date
the equity method was discantinued, and the fair value af any retained interest and eny proceeds fram disposing of
a part interest in the associate or a joint venture is included in the determination of the gain cr loss on disposal of
the associate or joint venture. in addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis 85 would be required if that
assaciate or joint venture had directly dispased of the related assets or lisbilities. Therefore, if @ gain or lass
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disgosal of the refated assets or liabilities, the Graup reclassifies the gain ar lass from equity to
profit or loss (8s a reclassification adjustment) when the associate or joint venture is disposed of.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests
of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownershig interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets upon liquidation may initiaily be measured at fair value or at the non-controiling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus the non-cantrolling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the nan-controlling interests. Total comprehensive incame of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of

the Company and to the non-conirofling interests even if this results in the non-centrolling interests having a deficit
balance.

Going concern

The Group had cash balances of $289.2 million (2021: $157.7 million) and barrowings of $272.7 million (2021: $172.0
million) at the year end, resulting in 8 net cash position of $16.5 million (2021: net debt of $14.3 million). The Group
had net current liabilities of $291.4 million (2021: $119.3 million net current assets), net liabilities of $430.2 million
(2021; $114.4 million net assets) and made a loss after tax of $1,252.0 million (2021: $2,331.1 million). The Group's
total cashflow from operating activities is a cash outflow of $482.0 million {2021: $1,231.1 million). The Group had
future rights commitments of $7.6 tillion {2021: $6.4 billion) at 31 December 2022 that are not recognised in the
statement of financia! position. Refer to note 25 for further detail on the timing of the payments relating to future
rights commitments.
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accoupting policies (continued)
Going Concern (continued)

Having reviewed cash flow forecasts and budgets and having considered the financial support that the Group's
principal sharehaolder, Access Industries (“Access”) has confirmed it intends to provide to the Groug through its fully
ownad subsidiory Al Merform llaldmys LLP, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have
access to sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, being a period of at
least 12 months from the date of apgroval of these financial statements. As in prior periods, Access is not legally
abligated to provide financial support. The Directors have considered a range of factors in vider to make their going
nencaern assessment, including cxpected future demand fur the Group’s services, the revenue growth trends of the
business, the history of continued financial support from Access and recent discussicns with the current
sharehalders, who are also represented on the Group’s board, on the Group’s cash flows forecast, and budgets for
the period te 2027, including forecast funding requirements. This assessment has included consideration of the
recent cost of living crisis, and its resulting impact on future revenues, results from operations and cash flows. The
directors have olso considered Access' abilily to provide tunding and concluded that Access have sufficient funds
to provide support to the Group where required.

The Group continued the expansion of its BAZN Consumer business during the current year, acquiring several key
rights in core markets and expanding subscriber numbers. The Group continues o invest in technology and
continues its strategy of rights acquisitions in order to support the ongaing growth of the DAZN platform, driving a
growth in underlying subscriber bases in established and new markets.

The Group has prepared a detailed financial forecast for the 12 months following approva! of these financial
statements. These forecasts indicate that, based on management’'s assumptions, the Group is likely to reguire
additional funding during this period in order to discharge all obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s principal shareholder, Al Perform Holdings LLP [a member of the Access Industries group), has
confirmed its intention to continue to provide financial support to the Group to enable the Group to ensure that they
are able to meet their liabilities as they fall due and therefore to continue as a going concern for a period of at ieast
12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. In the period between the year end and the
signing of these accounts Access has provided $240.0 million of funding to DAZN, in exchange for ordinary and
preference shares, to support its investment and growth plans.

Taking into account the cash flow forecasts and the expected availability of funding, including support by Access
as required, the Directors consider that the Group can meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future.

On this basis, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will continue in aperational existence
for the foreseeable future, being at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements, and
accordingly have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acguired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value
at the acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and [AS 18 respectively,

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

e assefs (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amoeunt of any non-cantrolling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previcusly held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are
tested tor impairment annually, or more frequently when there is anindication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverabie amount of the cash-generating unit is Jess than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any gocdwill aliocated to the unit and then to the other assets nf
the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment l0ss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

n disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents amounts derived from the provision of services after the deduction of value added tax. Revenue
is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract.

+ DAZN Consumer business

Subscription revenues are recognised rateably over the sutiscription period. Revenues are presented net of the
taxes that are collected from subscribers and remitted to governmental authorities. Variable consideration
exists in certain markets due to the potential for future performance obligations or cash outflows in relation to
Consumer business revenue. The Group has constrained this variable consideration and recognised revenus
only to the extent that it is highly probably that there will not be a significant reversal of revenue in the future.
The Group has estimated the amount of revenue for which it is highly prabably that there will not be a significant
reversal by evaluating the potential future obligations or cash outflows and the estimated likelihood of these
eventualities to occur. The estimate of revenue that has been deferredin contract liabilities due to the constraint
outlined above will be subject to reassessment at each reporting date and may change as additional information
regarding the likelthood of a revenue reversal becames available.

The Group has scme distribution arrangements in which subscribers sign up to pay for DAZN services via a third
party distributor. In these scenarios, in order to determine which party is its customer, the Group assesses
whether the third party is acting as an agent or as a principal in relation to the services received by the
subscriber. Typically, this is based on assessing which party has primary responsibility to the subscriber for the
DAZN services, If the Group has primary responsibility to the subscriber, it regards the subscriber as its
customer, and revenues are measured based on what the subscriber pays, with any amounts retained by the
distributor being recognised as an expense. Conversely, if the third party distributor has primary responsibility,
the Group regards the distributor as its customer, and revenues are measured based on the net amount
receivable from the distributor.

Where a distribution arrangement has a minimurn guaranteed number of subscribers for which DAZN will be
paid by the distributor, the accounting depends upon whether the Group expects the total number of
subscribers to exceed the minimum guarantee. Where the Group does not expect to exceed the minimum
guarantee, then the minimurm guarantee is taken as the transaction price, whichis recognised on a straight-line
basis over the contract period. Conversely, where DAZN does expect to exceed the minimum guarantee, this
represents variable consideration which is typically constrained based on actual subscriber numbers.

Revenues related to the sub-licensing of content obtained by the DAZN business are recognised over the course
of the contract, as the contentis provided to the customer. This may not be on a straight-line basis, for example
where the sub-licensed content is seasona!. The method for determining the measure of progress is as set out
in the Content Costs accounting policy. Any sub-licensing monies received in advance of the contract
commencing are recognised in current tiabilities as contract liabilities.

The Group has entered intc agreements where it has provided distribution rights to third parties in return for
content rights as a substitute for cash consideration. Whilst non-moenetary exchanges between entities in the
same line of business to facilitate sales to customers or patential customers are outside the scope of IFRS 15,
the IFRS 15 Basis for Conclusions clarifies that this applies to the exchange of homaogenous products, inline aiso
with the guidance in the cerresponding US GAAP standard (ASC 606). The application of judgement is necessary
to determine whether the services exchanged in these non-monetary transactions are inhgrently different.
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DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

Accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group has determined that the agreements entered qualify for revenue recognition on the basis that the
services exchanged are different, and recorded the fair value of the services exchanged as both revenue and
cost. The fairvoluc of the revenus transdction is typically oetermined with reference to the fair value of the rights
costs exchangad and received from the third parties. Revenue is recorded on a straight-line over the contract
period [i.e. on the same basis as other fixed-fee distribution deals), and the associated cost is recorded in
accordance with the Content Costs sccounting policy.

The Group generates revenue from displaying advertisements on the DAZN platform, both directly and via an
advertising agency, Revenue is recorded over time, as the advertising is provided. Where an advertising agency
is used, the Group assesses whether the agency is acting as an agent or a principal in the transaction with the
end-comgany buying the advertising space. Typically, the advertising agency contracts with the end-customer
buying the advertising space and is 1espunsible for the service provided to the end-customer, and therefore is
acting as a principal in this arrangement. Where this is the case, the Group records revenue based on the net
amount received from the advertising agency (i.e. the agency’s commission is netted against revenue).

« Broadcast Partnerships

Broadcast revenue is recognised on partnership deals based on whether the Group is acting as an agent or
principal. Where the Groug is acting as principal and enters into contracts directly with broadcasters, revenue is
recognised on a gross basis as the Group is the principal. In determining the recognition of broadcast revenues,
the Group recognises revenue in line with the services delivesed Lo the customer [i.e. the broadcaster) either an
an event, competition or seasonal basis, depending on the contractual terms agreed with the customer.

The amount of revenue recognised can usually be determined by reference to the contract with the customer,
which includes a detailed pricing schedule per event, competition ar season, indicating the value of each of
those services to the customer,

Where the Group is acting as an agent, revenue is recognised on a net basis based on the partnership's
contractual profit-sharing mechanism, in addition to any amounts due for reimbursed costs. Where the
transaction price is variable based on profit sharg, revenue is estimated based on the future contracted revenue
of the partnership and the resulting profit share due to DAZN over the life of the contract. Revenue is recognised
only to the extent that it is highly probable there will not be a reversal of revenue in the future. In determining
the recognition of revenue, the Group recognises revenue in each period in ine with the services delivered to
the customer based on an event, competition or seasonal basis.

Content costs

The content shown on the DAZN platform includes live sports matches, weekly programming, and sports
documentaries. DAZN's accounting policy differs for each of these types of content, on the basis that the viewing
patterns, and therefore DAZN's consumation of the future economic benefits associated with the content, differ
significantly. The Group typically licences the right (from sports associations, sports bodies, leagues or their agents
or partners) to supply live sports content for its DAZN business. For one of the Broadcast Partnerships
arrangements the Group is considered to be the principal as the Group acts as a global broedcast media partner in
relation toits strategic partnership and licences the rights from the associated sports body in order to contract with
broadcasters in local territories worldwide. Revenues are cafculated through a revenue share agreement with the
associated sports body.

The rights the Group licences are for a fixed period of time, over a number of years. The rights are generally paid in
instalments over the length of the contract, either in advance (and as such the Group will recognise a prepayment)
or arrears (and as such the Group will recognise an accrual). The Group recognises the expense for sports streaming
rights based on the pattern of consumption of econamic benefits over the contract term. The Group recognises an
expense for content costs either on the date of the event for one-off competitions and event-based combat sports,
or on a straight-line basis over the season for contracts that span multiple seasons or competitions.

Live sports matches or highlights are generally viewed significantly less as time passes after the original event, and
the time period in question is very short. DAZN has considered whether an asset should be recognised for its video-
an-demand offerings, which include replays of the sports events braadcast live, and concluded that such content
does not give rise to an asset as any future economic benefits that flow to DAZN fram such video-on-demand
offerings are minimal. Similarly, for weekly programming, the viewership generally decreases significantly over a
very shart timeframe, and therefore no asset is capitalised in respect of any costs incurred.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Leases
The Group as lesses

The Group assesses whether 3 contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the cantract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in whichitis the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a ‘ease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-ling basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benetits rrom the ledsed gvskls gre consumed.

The lease ligbility s initially measured at the present value of the fease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate imgplicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The incremental borrowing rate depends on the term, currency and start date of the lease and is determined based
on a series of inputs incluging: the risk-free rate based on government bond rates; @ country-specific risk
adjustment; a credit risk adjustment based on bond yields; and an entity-specific adjustment when the risk profila
of the entity that enters into the lease is different to that of the Group and the lease does not benefit from a
guarantee from the Groug.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
. fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentivas receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

« the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
+ theexercise grice of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain te exercise the options; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease termreflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease
liahility is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest methad) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

- The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in
the assessment of exercise of 8 purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

. The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under 3
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
paymerits using an unchanged discount rate (uniess the lease pgyments change is due to a change in a fioating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

. Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the Jease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the current financial geriod.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, l2ase payments made
at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cost less accumuiated depreciation and impairment losses.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which
it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a
provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs refate to a right-of-use asset, the
tosts are included in the related right-of-use asset.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
expects to exercise o purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use dssels are presented as a separate line in the consclidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified
impairment loss as described in the ‘Praperty, Plant and Equipment’ palicy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised 8s an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Where the Group is an intermediste lessor, it accounts for the head tease and the sub-lease 35 two separate
cantracts. The sub-lease is classified as a finance or cperating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head leasa. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amocunts due fraom lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods 5o as te reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the Igases.

When & contract includes bath lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to gllocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.
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T. Accounting poiicies (continued)
Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Graup company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The functicnal currency of the DAZN Group Limited entity changed in the year
from Pound Sterling to US Dollars.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
tunctional currency sre recognised at the rates of exchange prevalling an the dates of the transactions. At each
balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are ve-translated at
the rates prevamng at thut Jale, Noti-tiunglar y itema carricd ot fair valuo that are denominated in fareign currencies
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of histarical cost in a foreign currency are nat retranstated. Exchange differances are recognised
in profit or 10ss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated to US Dollars at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Incorme and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, uniess exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.

0On the dispasal of a foreign operation [i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interast becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign exchange translation reserve inrespect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Comgany are reclassified to profit or [0ss.

Goodwill grising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is treated as an asset of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently gayable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period and tax withheld from income. Taxab'e profit
differs from net profit as reported in the Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and further excludes items that are never iaxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and the curtesponding tax bases used in the camputation of taxahle profit,
and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible tempaorary
gifferences can be utilised.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporsry difference arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the tax profit nor accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised far temparary differences arising oninvestments in subsidiaries, and interests
injointventures, except where the Group is able to contral the reversal of the tempaorary difference andit is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probabie that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)
Taxation [centinued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expectad to apply in the period when the liability is settled, or the
assetisrealised, Deferred and current tax is charged or creditedin the Income Statement, except when it relates to
items chargad ur credited directly to equily ur ulher comprehensive income, in which case the deferred and current
tax is also dealt with in equity or ather comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is & legally enforceabie right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when:

(i) theyrelate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority; and
(il  the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considerer that
there nigy be 4 future outtlow ot tunds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
amount expected to become payable, The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the
Company supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist
independent tax advice.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impsirment loss.
The estimated usefu! lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Depreciation is recognised
as an operating cost and provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write each gsset down
to its residual value, using the straight-line method, over its expected useful life as follows:

Freehold land —indefinite life

Technical and production equipment — three years

Office furniture and equipment — three years

Leasehold improvernents — three years or the lease term, depending on the nature of the improverment
Right of use assets

Right-of-use assets are deprecisted over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying
asset.

Intangible assets — computer software development

Development costs (including directly attributable averheads) are capitalised only when it is probable that future
economic benefit will result from the project and the following criteria are met:

e the technical feasibility of the product has been ascertained,
+ adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete and sell or use the intangible asset;

« the Group can demonstrate how the intangible asset will generate future economic benefits and the ability to
use or sell the intangible asset can be demonstrated;

* jtisthe intention of management to complete the intangible asset and use it or sell it; and
» the development costs can be measured reliably.
Where these criteria are not met, development costs are charged to the Income Statement as incurred.

Amortisation is recognised as an operating cost at a rate calculated to write each asset down to its estimated
residual value (assumed to be nil], using the straight-line method, over three years.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets — other

Identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations, that meet the conditions for recognition
under IFRS 3, are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date. If there is no foreseeabie imit to the period
over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity, the asset is regarded as having
indefinite useful life. This applies to the licences obtained on acquisition of DAZNBET (see note 24). For all other
assets, amortisation is recognised as an operating cost and charged, on a straight-line basis, over their useful
economic life on the following basis:

Trademarks and domain names — twenty years
Custamer relstionships — three to twelve years
Information technology architecture — three to twelve years
Impairment of tangible and intangibie assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its goodwill, tangible and intangibie assets,
intangible assets not yet available for use and right of use assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment Joss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets
are estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit/product to which the asset belongs. A cash generating unit is the lowest level for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets.

Recoverable amount is the higher of the fair valug, less costs to sell, and the value in use. In 3ssessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows, which are based on budgeted figures, are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to beless thanits carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Animpairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (ar cash-generating unit] is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset {or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss to the extent that it eliminates the impairment 10ss which has been recognised for the asset in prior years.

inventories

The Group has classified two categories of asset as inventory, being set top boxes and original content. Inventories
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the firstin first out {'FIFQ’) method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion (for set top boxes
this primarily relates to transportation).

Set top boxes are sold to customers as a means of accessing the DAZN content. The cost of set top boxes comprises
manufacturing and transportation expenses, which are both outsourced to external providers.

Original content is content produced by DAZN, to be dispiayed on the DAZN Consumer business (primarily
documentaries).

Fingncia! instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables that do not have a significant financing component which are measured
at transaction price.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)
Financial liability and equity

Financial liability and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
enterectinto. Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directissue costs. Own shares
represent the shares ol Lhe porent company, DAZN Group Lirmited, that are helg by the Employee Benefit Trust.
These shares are recorded at cost and deducted from equity.

Borrowings

Rorrowings are initially measurcd at fair value, net of transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with an interest expense recognised on an effective interest
tasis. The effective interest method is 8 method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating the interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, @ shorter
perind, 10 the net carrying amiount v inilial recognition,

Borrowings are recognised as s current liability when the balance outstanding is due to be settled within 12 months
after the reporting period or the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as nan-current.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s abligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired, The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss, including equity instruments, are initially
measured at fair value with subsequent changes in the fair vaiue recognised in grofit and loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are carried on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception
of the host contract. The Group has identified certain embedded derivatives, described as “derivatives over own
equity” in accordance with IFRS 9. These derivatives are held at fair value from the date on which a derivative
contractis entered into and subsequently remeasured at each balance sheet date.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of the derivative is calculated by
disceunting the maximum derivative value by a return on equity discount factor.

The Group does not hold or issue derivatives for speculative purposes.
Trade receivables and other receivable financial assets

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price of the related revenue, unless the receivables
contain & significant financing component, in which case they are recognised at fair value. Where trade receivables
and financial assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, they are carried at amortised cost under the effective interest method.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, as permitted by [FRS 8.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but recognises a loss allowance based on the financial
asset's lifetime expected credit loss. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information. Current and forward-looking information is also used in order to determine whether an asset is credit
impaired. Balances are written off when the possibility of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank accounts, deposits receivable on demand and deposits with
maturity dates of three months or less from the date of inception. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
ang which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents where offset conditions are met.
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1.

Accounting poiicies (continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value on initial recognition (plus transaction costs
if any) and carried at amortised cost. The fair value of trade and other payables has not baen disclosed as, due to
their short duration, the Directors consider the carrying values recognised in the balance sheet to be a reasonable
approximation of their fair value,

Long-term incentive schemes

Share-based payment schemes are classified as equity- or cash-settled based upon the expected settlement.
Where the Group has an obligation to settle the incentives in cash, the Group tiassiiies the schigiieg ds Lasli-settied
and records a liability, Otherwise, the scheme is equity-settled and a share-based payment reserve is recorded
within equity.

Equity-settled share-based payments to emgloyees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the eguity instruments at the grant date. The fair value exciudes the effect of non-market-based vesting
conditions. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settied share-based payments is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will eventually vest. At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
origina! estimates, if any, is recognised in grofit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to reserves.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured
initially at the fair value of the liability. At each reporting date untit the liability is settled, and at the date of
settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for
the year,

Employee benefit trust

The Group has an employee benefit trust which holds shares in DAZN Group Limited as part of the Group’s long term
incentive schemes. DAZN Group Limited is recognised as the sponsoring entity and has control of the Trust which
is consolidated as part of the entity’s results. Shares held by the Trust are recognised at cost as own shares and
deducted from equity.

Pension

The Group makes contributions on behslf of employees to an independent, defined contribution pensicn scheme.
The Groug has no further legal obligation to pay contritutions after the payment of its fixed contribution that is
matched by an employee. These contributions are recognised as an expense in the period the relevant employee
sarvices are received,

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for that service.

Liakilities recognised in respect of short-term emgployee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected ta be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the gresent value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Greup inrespect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present abligation (legal or constructive] as a result of 8 past event,
it is probabie that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of thase cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Provisions (continued)
Dilapidotion provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original condition, as required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, are recognised when the obligation is incurred, either at the commencement date or as a consequence
of having used the underlying asset during a particular period of the lease, at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure that would be required to restore the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
appropriate for new circumstances.

Legatl and commercial disputes

Pravisions for settlements associated with legal or commercial disputes are recognised when there is a probable
future outflow. Provisions are measured with reference to the Director’s best estimate of the future outcome of the
dispute, or where a commercial settlement is likely, the best estimate of the amounts payable in order to reach a
mutually agreeable outcome.

Onerous commitments

Present obligations arising under onerous commitments are recognised and measured 3s provisions. An anerous
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
commitments under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumgptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to sccounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The items below are critical
judgements that the Directors have made in applying the Group’s accounting policies, which have a significant effectan
the amounts recognised in these financial statements:

Critical accounting judgements
Accounting for contract revenue in distribution agreements

The Group has entered inte partnership agresments with third parties to provide the DAZN service directly to
customers or through broadcast channels. The Group has applied IFRS 14 to determine the revenue recognition
treatment of the contract revenue far these subscribers. In applying these principles, there is judgement as to
whether DAZN acts as the agent or principal in the arrangament and whether revenue should be recognised based
an a contract directly with the customer or with the third party. The Groug’s management have analysed the
contractual legal terms in detail and considered the commercial reality of the partnership deals in order to make
this judgement.

Additionally, where the distributor provides marketing services to its customers, typically the Group is unable to
direct these marketing activities or specify how they should be conducted beyond the general principles set out in
the contract. Therefore, an accounting judgement has teen made that the distributor’'s marketing service would
not be a distinct service that has value to DAZN outside of the contract with the distributor, and consequently, this
should not be included in the overall transaction price as non-cash consideration.

Where there is 3 barter element to distribution deals, i.e. where the Group is exchanging services with a customer
rather than providing services in exchange for cash consideration, the Group has applied an accounting policy to
recard both revenue and a related cost. Note 2 provides detsil on the guantification and disaggregation of revenues.
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1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Critical sccounting judgements {continued)
Commitment to acquire content rights

The Group has commitments to acquire sports content rights. As at 31 December 2022 these commitments total
$7.6 billion (2021: $6.4 billion). The Directors do not consider this commitment to be a financial liability as this
cammitment relates to future payments for future sporling events that the Group has acquired the right to stream.
For this reason, and as the organiser declares it waives the exercise of its own rights to stream the sport, the Group
does nat cansider it meets the criteria for recognition of an intangible asset nor does it consider it has a financial
liability in accordance with IFRS 9 until Lhe sporting event has been delivered.

Accaounting for Broadcast Partnerships agreements

The Group’s Broadcast Partnerships business includes long-term agreements with rights holders where the Group
either provide services to the rights holders to facilitate the broadcasting of the content associated with the related
rights to multiple territories, or licence the rights from the rights holder for direct sale to broadcasiers. The
conclusion on whether the contractual terms between the Group, the broadcasters and the rights holders provide
the Group with a performance obligation to the broadcasters or to the rights holder influences whether the Group
recognises revenues associated with each arrangement gross or net. Where the Group is the principal, revenue is
recognised gross; where the Group is agent, revenue is recognised net. The contractual arrangements are complex
and therefore the Group is required to make a critical accounting judgement in respect of their performance
abligations for each Broadcast Partnership arrangement and how revenue should be calculated and recognised.
This includes determining the manner in which the progress against satisfaction of that performance obligation is
measured. Note 2 provides detail on the quantification and disaggregation of revenues.

Ciassificotion of Growth Preference Shares

0n 29 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings due toits parent, Access, were releasedin consideratian for the issue
of ordinary and preference shares. This resulted in the settlement of all the Groug's borrowings, amounting to $3.3
tillion, and theissuance of $1.2 billion of A ordinary shares and $2.1 billion of new Growth Preference Shares. During
2022, an additional $365.0 million Growth Preference Shares were issued.

The terms attached to the Growth Preference Shares issued are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Growth Preference Shares have na fixed repayment date but carry rights to preferential settlement in the event
of certain contingent events including sale of the Company’s shares, and will automatically convert into ordinary
shares in certain circumstances, including in the event that the Company’s shareholders holding the greatest
number of Growth Preference Shares and Z ordinary shares agree to serve a conversion notice on the Company.

The Growth Preference Shares have been accounted for as 8 compound instrument, which comprises both an
equity component and a financial ligbility to reflect the Company’s obligation to deliver @ variable number of its own
ordinary shares if the cenversion notice is exercised. It has been datermined that this liability meets the definition
of ‘held for trading’ and therefore is recognised at fair value through profit or loss. The value of the liability at year-
end is $253.4 million.
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1. Accounting policies {continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions, which have a significant risk of causing @ material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Measuremnent of equily instrurments held at fair value through profit and loss

The Group held an investment in the preference shares of two of its associates during the current year. In 2019, the
Group invested in 20% of the ardinary and preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd as part of the acquisition of
a minarity stake in the Stats Perform business. in the current finanicial year, the Group retained a 29% investment
in the ordinary and preference shares of the Footballco Group.

These preference shares have both been classified as equity instruments, measured at fair value through profit and
loss. Refer to note 23 for further details.

At the reporting dale, l9il value assessments tor these investments were performed based on discounted cash flow
valuations. These vsluations involved significant estimates of future cash flows and approgriate discount rates. As
these inputs were not based on quoted ar observable market data, these investments are classified aslevel 3in the
fair value measurement hierarchy in note 19. During the year the Group recognised $17.9 million ioss on the fairvalue
remeasurement of the Foolbalico preference shares and a loss of $24.4 million on the fair value remeasurement of
the ordinary and preferences shares in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd.

Measurement of Growth Preference Shares classified as debt

The Growth Praference Shares are treated as a compound financial instrument with the debt portion being
measured at fair value through profit and loss. The valuation of this liability is catculated by reference to the value
of crdinary shares that would be issued upeon conversion, taking into acceunt the fixed return on the Growth
Preference Shares of 30% per annum. The key assumptions that are used in the calculation of the liability are the
equity volatility of DAZN and the risk-free rate. If the volatility were to increase by 10%, the impact would reduce the
preference share value by $19.7 million. If the risk-free rate were to increase by 2% the preference share value at
yearend would decrease by $7.1 million.

Uncertain tax provision

The Group is potentially subject to tax audits in many jurisdictions which may often be complex and could take a
significant period of time to be agreed with the tax authorities. The Group applies management judgment in
assessing the position expected to be taken by each tax authority based on the interpretation of country-specific
tax legislation and the likelihcod of settiement and therefore provides for uncertain tax positions. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had recognised provisions of $55.2m (2021: $22.3m) on the balance sheet, the most material of
which was $40.1m (2021: $12.3m).
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2.

Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and services over time as
services are rendered in the DAZN and Broadcast Partnerships divisions. The below disaggregation of revenue is
consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each division as detailed below.

2022 2021
$m $'m

Revenue from contracts with customers
DAZN Consumer business 2,122.6 1,463.6
Broadcast Partnerships 71.7 a4.6
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2,197.3 1,558.2

The majority of the Groug's revenue comgarises subscription revenue, which is earned over a short period of time
[usually monthly) based on the subscriber profile. DAZN revenue also comprises sub-licence and commercial
premises revenue, which is earned over time as the services are provided.

Where subscription revenue is received via a third party distributar, and that third party is determined to be the
principal in the transaction, DAZN's customer is the distributor, and therefore revenue is recognised over the
contract period as the performance obligation ta the third party distributor ig satisfied. When the transaction grice
is dependent on a variable number of subscribers over the contract period, revenue may be constrained unless it is
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Broadcast Partnerships revenue is usually based on longer-term contracts with third parties and is recognised over
time as the performance obligations under the contract are satisfied. The Group has applied judgement in
determining the transaction price when the revenue under the contracts is variable, particularly for broadcast
partnership deals that span multiple years, where revenue earnaed under the contract incorporates an element of
profit share. In determining the recognition of broadcast revenues, the Group recognises revenue in line with the
services delivered to the customer, who, for the majority of the Broadcast Partnership arrangements, is the rights
holder. The Group has chosen to measure progress using the cutput method for each of the Broadcast Partnerships
arrangements,

For contracts that existed at the year end, there is $2,811.5 million (2021; $1,845.8 million) of the tota! transaction
price allocated to partially unsatisfied performance obligations across all revenue streams, for contracis where the
variable revenue is net constrained. This has increased significantly in 2022 due to a number of deals being signed
with minimum guarantees. In the next reporting period 41% (2021: 46%) of the transaction price allocated to partiaily
unsatisfied perfarmance obligations will be recognised as revenue. This excludes any future income from
partnership deals which are based grimarily on profit-share, where the revenue is constrained due to the uncertainty
around future variable profits.
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2.

Revenue (continued)

Geographical revenue anaiysfs

Geographical revenue information for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is presented below:

2022

DAZN Consumer business
Broadcast Partnerships
Totalrevenue

2021
DAZN Consumer business

Broadcast Partnerships
Total revenue

Europe, Middle
East and Africa
$¥m

1,604.3
50.2
1,654.5

Europe, Middle
East and Africa
$'m

1,033.0
46.3
1,078.3

Asia
Pacific
$m

266.0

266.0

Asia
Pacific
$m

238.2
3.2
241.4

Americas
$'m

252.3
24.5
276.8

Americas
$'m

192.4
451
237.5

Total
$'m

21226
4.7
2,197.3

Total
$m

1,463.6

94.6
1,558.2
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3. Operating costs

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2022 2021

$m $'m

Rights costs 2,366.5 1,924.3
Gther content ond marketing costs 462.2 509.6
Legal and professional fees 16.7 30.3
Staff and contractors 201.8 191 R
(Gain)/ Loss on foreign exchange (15.4) 20.3
Provisions raised (note 16) 8.1 347
Equity-settled share based payment charge (note 22) 30.5 24.4
Expected credit loss recognised 5.2 2.5
Other costs 184.8 186.2
Total operating costs 3,260.4 2,903.9
Total operating costs excluding Rights costs 893.9 §78.6

Amortisation of intangibles, depreciation on property, plant and equipment and depreciation onright-of-use assets
are included within other costs. The amounts recorded as an expense in the period has been disclosed in notes 9,
10 and 11 respectively. Also included within other costs are research and development costs of $72.7 million (2021:
$56.7 mitlion).

The 2022 Qatar FIFA World Cup took place during the winter pericd in Europe. This led to a longer winter break in
European footbal! seasons impacting revenue and recognitian of rights casts. In 2022 there were less games taking
place in European domestic leagues with more matches in 2023. In 2022 this resulted in $181,7m of rights costs that
would have normally been recognised in the year being recognised in 2023,

The analysis of auditor's remuneration is as follows:

2022 2021
$'m $m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual
accaurnts 2.9 2.6
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s
subsidiaries 0.1 01
Fees payabie to the Company’s auditor for overruns on the audit of the
Company’s prior year annual accounts 0.4 0.6
Total audit fees 3.4 3.3
Fees payable to the Group's guditors for other services:
Tax compliance services - -
Other assurance services 01 0.1
Total non-audit fees 01 0.3
Total fees payabie to the Group's auditor 35 3.4
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A

Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

2022

Nos.

Business davelopment and sales 43

Account management and marketing 290

Production 805

Technology 889

Administration and management 499

Total 2,526
Employee costs (including Executive Directors) were:

2022

$¥m

Wages and salaries 220.0

Sacial security costs 29.5

Pension costs 73

Contingent cash settied share-based payment scheme 2.9

Lutig-lenin Incentive schemes, cash-settled 30.5

Total 290.2

2021
Nos.

46
264
754
766
483

2,313

2021
$'m

184.8
23]
1.6
14.7
(0.5)
233.6

0Of the total staff costs of $290.2 millicn (2021: $233.6 million), $27.1 million (2021: $24.1 million) was subsequently
credited and recorded as an intangible asset for the capitalisation of staff time. This is included as part of the

computer software development asset in note 9.

in additien to the shove employee costs, the Group recognised an expense of $18.9 million (2021 $24.4 million} in
relation to an equity-settled share scheme and $10.5 million (2021: $3.3 million) in relation to cash-settled share
schemes. The contingent cash settled share-based payment scheme, for which the expense is shown in the table

above, was settled in cash in full (for $4.4 million) in April 2022.

Key management personnel costs (including Executive and Non-Executive Directors) were:

2022

$'m

Wages and salaries 25.7
Social security costs 2.0
Pensicn costs 0.3
Terminations 1.0
Charge for leng-term share and cash-settled schemes -
Contingent cash settled share-based payment scheme 1.9
Total 30.9

2021
$'m

28.9
2.6
0.4
0.1
6.8
39.8

During 2022 the Directars considered 29 individuals to be key management personnel (2021: 21) (including Executive

and Non-Executive Directors).

2022
Directors’ remuneration was: $'m
Emcluments 8.4
Company contributions to defined contripution pension schemes 0.1
Total 8.5

2021
$'m

7.9

7.9
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4. Staff costs (continued)

The nurmber of Directors who:

Are members of 5 defined contribution pension scheme

Remuneration af the highest paid Directar:

Emoluments
Total

5. Finance income

Financia! instruments measured at amortised cost
Interest income from loan to external debtors

Interest income from subleasing right of use assets (note 11)
Other interest income

Total finance income

2022
Nos.

2022
$'m

3.3
3.3

2022
$'m

1.6
1.2
0.7
3.5

2021
Nos.

2021
$'m

11
0.2
1.3

Interest income on external detbtors of $1.6 miilion relates to loans extended ta parties in advance of campleting

acquisitions.

BG. Finance costs

Interest on shareholder loans

Amortisation of arrangement fees and other bank charges and finance costs
Removal of conversion option on convertible loan

Interest expense on tease lisbilitios

Unwind on dilapidation provisions

Foreign exchange losses on financing iterms

Total finance costs

2022
$'m

2.2
6.2
0.1
36.5
45.0

202}
$m

737.6
6.4
20.4
7.0
163.3
934.7

interest on shareholder loans in the prior year was $737.68 million, including $24.1 million relating te the fair vaiue

agdjustment for the below market interest rate element on shareholder Joans.
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7. Taxation
2022 2021
$m 'm
Current tax:
UK current tax charge at 19% (2021: 19%) aR ne
Adjustment in respect of prior years - on
Foreign tax:
Overseas current tax charge 30.2 31.3
Adjustment in respect of prior years 1n.3 (0.9)
Withholding tax a.1 1.8
Deferred tax:
Origination or reversal of temporary differences 0.2 (3.9)
Impact of changes in tax rates (0.7) (4.0}
Adjustment in respect of prior years (0.7} 0.2
Tax charge for the year 50.6 25.2

UK corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2021: 19%:) of the estimated assessable loss far the year. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in those jurisdictions, The charge for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before tax in the Consolidated Income Statement as follows:

2022 2021
$'m $'m
Loss before tax (1,201.4) {2,305.9)
Tax at weighted average UK caorporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 18%) [228.3] (438.1)
Effects of:
Amounts not deductible in determining taxable profit 40.1 129.6
Non-taxable inccme 0.8 (4.4)
Non-deductible hybrid mismatches 186.2 314.3
Prior year adjustments 10.6 (0.8}
Change in UK tax rate on deferred tax balances (0.2) (4.0)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions a.1 30
Overseas tax 0.0 (0.0)
Nan-recognition of l0sses 27.0 8.1
Other unrecognised deferred tax 5.3 15.8
UK group relief G.0 {0.1)
Withholding tax - 1.8
Tax charge 50.6 25.2

On 24 May 202, an increase to the UK corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% (effective from 1 April 2023) was
substantively enacted.

On 11 July 2023, the UK Finance (No.2) Act 2023 was enacted, this includes legisliation applicable to large
multinational groups in relation to a new tax framework (part of the OECD Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS)
initiative), which introduces a glebal minimum corporate tax rate of 15% effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 31 December 2023. The Group monitors income tax developments in the territories in which it operates,
as well as the applicable accounting standards, to understand their potential future impacts.
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8. Goodwill

$m
Cost
At 31 December 2020 1.6
Acquisition of Texel 8.2
At 31 December 2021 9.8
At 31 December 2022 9.8
Accumulated impairment losses
At 31 December 2020 (1.6)
Impairment of goodwill -
At 31 December 2021 (1.8)
Impairment of goodwili -
At 31 December 2022 (1.8)
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2022 8.2
At 31 December 2021 8.2

The Group has historically identified two cash generating units [“CGUs”), being DAZN and Breadcast Partnerships.
During 2021, the Group acquired Texel Live Limited (“Texel”), resulting in $8.2m of goodwill being recorded on
acquisition which was allocated to the DAZN CGU.
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9.

Other intangible assets

Cost

At 31 December 2020

Additions

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 December 2021

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiary

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 Decermber 2022

Accumulated amortisation

At 1January 2021

Charge for the year

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 Decernber 2021

Charge for the year

Disposals

Effect of moverment in foreign exchange
At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022
At 31 December 2021

Computer
software
development
F'm

1381
35.7
(15.3)
(8.9)
149.6
427
G.1
(50.2)
(9.3)
132.9

£4.1
N5
(15.2)
(5.9
85.3
40.8
(50.2)
(4.9)
71.0

61.9
64.3

Licenses
$'m

13.6

Computer software development relates to costs incurred to improve and develop the DAZN platform in order to
deliver content to customers. Amortisation of $40.8 million (2021: $41.5 million) is included as part of the operating

costs.
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Total
&'m

1381
357
(15.3)
(8.9)
149.6
42,7
13.7
(50.2)
(9-3)
146.5

4.1
415
(15.2)
(5.1
853
40.8
(50.2)
(4.9)
71.0

75.5
64.3
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Technical and

Freehold production Office furniture Leasehold

land equipment and equipment improvements Total

$'m $'m $m $m $m
Cost
At 1January 2021 0.4 N2 1.1 33.5 65.2
Additions - 3.9 0.2 1.7 5.8
Disposals - (16.0) (0.4) (7.0} {23.4)
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange - (1.2) 0.9 (1.4) 2.7
At 31 December 2021 0.4 16.9 0.8 26.8 449
Adgitions - 37 0.6 1.4 57
Acquisition of subsidiary - 0.8 0.3 0.5 1.6
Disposals - (8.6) (0.4) 17.6) (26.6)
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange - (0.3) - (0.8) (0.9)
At 31 December 2022 0.4 12.5 1.3 10.5 24.7
Accumulated depreciation
At1January 2021 - 17.3 0.6 16.3 34.2
Charge for the year - 87 0.3 96 186
Disposals - 16.0) (0.4) (7.0) {23.4]
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange B (.0} (-0 @1
At 31 December 2021 - 9.0 0.5 7.8 27.3
Charge for the year - a.7 0.2 4.2 9.1
Disposals - {8.6) (0.4) (17.6) (26.8)
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange - 03 0.1 - 0.4
At 31 December 2022 - 5.4 0.4 4.4 10.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 0.4 71 0.9 6.1 14.5
At 31 December 2021 0.4 7.9 0.3 9.0 7.6
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. Leases

a) Right of use assets

Cost

At1January 2021

Additions

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 December 2021

Additions

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation

At1January 2021

Charge for the year

Ettect ot movement in foreign exchange
Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Charge far the year

Disposals

Effect of movement in foreign exchange
At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022
At 31 December 2021

Offices and Data
Centres
$'m

as.4
6.5
(25.2)
(4.0
75.7
6.1
2.7
(6.3)
72.8

23.4
2.6
(12.4)
(1.0)
226
9.2
(1.2)
(2.0
28.6

44.2
531

I he Group holds right of use assets inrespect of office buildings and data storage space leases. The average lease

termis 2.5 years (2021; 3.2 years).

b) Investmentin sub-lease

At1 January 2022

Additions

Finance income on sub-lease
Payments received

At 31 December 2022

2022
$'m

15.2
1.2

(2.2)
14.2

2021
¥m

1.6
13.0
1
(0.5)
5.2
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1.

Leases (continued)

The maturity analysis of the investment in sut lease is set out below:

Minimum

sublease

payments

2022

$m

Ycar 1 2.7

Year 2 2.5

Year 3 2.5

Year 4 2.7

Year 5 2.8

Onwards 5.4

Less: Future finance income {4.4)

Present value of investment in sub lease 14.2
Analysed as:

Current

Non-current
As at 31 December

Present value
of sublease
asset

2022
m
1.6
1.6
1.6
2.0
23
5.1

14.2

Minimum
sublease
payments
2021

$m

2.3

2.7

2.5

2.5

2.7

8.2

(5.7}

5.2

2022
m

1.6
12.6
14.2

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its investment in sublease.

c) Amounts recognised in profit and loss

Depreciation of right-of-use asset
Finance costs on lease liabilities (note B)
Unwind of dilapidation provision (note 6}
Expense relating to short-term leases
Finance income on sub-lease (note 5)

2022

¥m
(9.2)
(6.2)
©.n

1.2

Present value
of sublease
asset

2021

$m

2.1

2.4

2.0

1.9

1.9

4.9

5.2

2021
$m

2.1
13.1
15.2

2021
$'m
(12.6)
(7.0
(0.5}
(0.7
1.

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 amounted to $15.2 million (2021: $18.6 million), of which $9.1 million (2021:
$11.6 million) was used to settle the principal portion of the lease and $6.2 million (2021: $7.0 million) to settle
interest. As at 31 December 2022, the Group is committed to $nil for short term leases (2021: $0.1 million). There are

no variable lease payments.
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1.

Leases (continued)

d) Leaseliability

The maturity analysis of the lease liability is set out below:

Year 1

Year 2

Year 3

Year 4

Year s

Year 6 and onwards

Less: Future finance charges
Present value of lease liability

Analysed as:

Current
Non-current
As at 31 December

Movement in lease liability during the year

As at1.January

Payments made

Additions

Disposals

Finance costs on lease liabilities
FX revaluation of lease liabilities
As at 31 December

Minimum
sublease
payments

2022
m
16.1
14.4
125
1.4
9.7
26.5
(25.2)
65.4

Present value
of sublease
asset

2022
$¥m
10.5

9.6
8.1
8.1
7.2
21.6

65.4

Minimum
sublease
payments
2021

$'m

6.2

15.65

14.7

127

1.4

35.0
(31.4)
75.2

2022
$'m

10.6
54.8

65.4

2022
m

75.2
(15.3)
5.8
(1.8)
6.2
(4.7)
65.4

Present value
of sublease
asset

2021
$'m
9.9
n.o
10.0
8.7
8.3
27.3

752

2021

9.9
65.3

5.2

2021

84.3
(18.5)
6.5
(0.8)
7.0
(3.2)
75.2
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12

Trade and other receivables

2022 202}
$'m $'m
Non-current
Other receivables 4.7 4.7
Current
Gross trade receivables 277.4 19.4
Loss allowance (8.9) [5.8)
Net trade receivables 268.5 3.6
Other receivables 109.2 67.4
Total current trade and other receivables 3777 181.0

Gross trade receivables are held at amortised cost and relate to balances arising from confracts with customers.
Net trade receivables are presented following the reduction for the expected credit loss allowance.

Other current receivables relate to subscription payments associated with revenue from contracts with customers
collected by third parties on the Group’s behalf (for example where the receivable is from a payment provider who
is not DAZN’s direct customer) snd withholding tax balances. Based on the credit risk assessment of these
balances, no expected credit loss allowance is recognised with respect to other receivables.

Non-current other receivables relate to facilities deposits and external loan receivables.

The due date for trade receivables will vary depending on the jurisgdiction and product but is typically between 30
angd 80 days. Trade receivables do not bear any interest.

Alltrade receivables are subject to credit risk exposure, however, the Group has notidentified specific concentration
of credit risk with regards to trade receivables aside from the balances mentioned below, as the remaining balance
consists of a large number of receivables from various customers.

Movements in expected credit loss are as follows:

2022 2021

$'m $'m

At 1January 5.8 3.0

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 5.3 25

Amaounts written off (1.4) -

Change in loss allo_wance due to new trade and other recejvables originated net _ 02
of those derecognised due to settlement

Effect of movermnent in foreign exchange (0.8) 0a

As at 31 December 8.9 5.8

Net remeasurement of the loss allowance has beeninciuded in the Consolidated Income Statement. The Grouphas
applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit 10sses, as permitted by IFRS 9. Therefore, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but recognises a loss sllowance based on the financial asset's lifetime
expected credit loss. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information.
Balances are written off when the possibility of recovery is assessed as being remote. This has increased in the year
as a result of a large overdue balance within one of the Polish entities.

There are several balances with counterparties where there are ongoing legal or commercial disputes resultingin a
suspension of payments while discussions or lega! proceedings are underway. Although these balances are more
than one year past due, they are expected to be recovered once the dispute is resolved and hence no expected loss
has been recognised. These balances are included within ‘More than one year' in the ageing table below.

The other classes within trade and other receivatles do not contain impaired assets.
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2.

13.

14,

15.

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Financial assets not contributing to the remeasurement of the 10ss allowance are shown below:

2022 2021

$'m $'m

Not yetdue 229.5 36.3
Not mare than three months 6.9 17.7
Mare than three months but not mare than six months 6.0 55
Mare than six months but not more than a year - 10.0
More than one year 26.1 441
Total 268.5 1n3.6

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Prepayments and accrued income

Prepayments and accrued income balances are set out below:

2022 2021
$'m &'m

Current
Prepayments for acquiring content and rights 2807 409.4
Contract assets 67.4 49.7
Other prepaid cost 15.6 2i.0
As at 31 December 363.7 480.1

Other prepaid costs include $6.8 million {2021: $10.2 million) of IT prepayments, in addition to prepayments relating
to marketing, insurance and professional services.

Contract assets comprise unbilled advertising, distribution and technology related revenues where the Group has
provided services to customers over time. The increase in contract assets is due to the timings of payments
received from distribution partners.,

Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2027
¥m $'m
Cash and cash equivalents 289.2 157.7

Cash was held in & variety of interest-bearing accounts. This balance includes $1.9 million (2021: $nil) of restricted
customer funds.

Trade and other payables

2022 2021

$m $'m

Trade payables m.z7 509
Rights accrual 195.8 119.9
Accruals 153.3 140.2
Contract liatilities 707.9 285.5
Taxation and sccial security 8.0 9.0
Other creditors 55.6 20.0
As at 31 December 1,232.3 635.5

The Birectors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value. For most
suppliers no interest is charged on the trade payables. The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-agreed credit terms.

55



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

15.

186.

Trade and other payables (continued)

Contract lizbilities consist of subscription fees billed and collected that have not been recognised as revenue. Of the
contract liabilities prought forward as at 1 January 2022, 3ll balances have been recognised in profit and loss in the
year other than $1.9 million in relation to the Broadcast Partnerships division. Of the increase in contract liabilities in
2022, $620.5 million relates to upfront payments received on large distribution deals with the remaining balance
due to direct consumer revenue that has been constrained in line with DAZN’s revenug recognition policy outlined
in Note 1.

Dther creditors consist of liabilities in relation to revenue shares and VAT liabilities. The Directurs consider that the
carrying amount of other creditors apgroximates to their fair value.

Provisions
Dilapidations Rights Onerous Legal Other Total
contracts
$'m $'m $m $'m $'m $'m
At 1 January 2023 4.7 39.8 14.3 4.5 0.2 63.5
Additions - 5.0 1.4 8.3 - 34.7
Finance expense on unwind - (39.8) (6.8) - - (46.6)
Disposals - - - - - -
Transfer to assets held for sale - - (3.5) (4.5) (0.2) (8.2
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange (0.2) ) ) B ) (0.2)
At 31 December 2021 4.5 5.0 15.4 18.3 - 43.2
Additions 0.4 - - 7.7 - 8.1
Utilisation - (5.0) (8.7) - - 13.7)
Finance expense onunwind 01 - - - - 03
Disposals (0.3) - - - - 0.1
Releases - - - (2.7 - 2.7
Effect of movement in foreign
exchange (0.4) - (0.6) (0.5) - .5)
At 31 December 2022 4.5 - 6.1 22.8 - 334

0f the $22.8 million (2021: $18.3 million) relating to legal or requlatory matters, $15.0 million has been setiled after
year end and $7.8 million relates to regulatory fines that have been appealed.

The analysis of provisions balances between current and non-current is detailed below:

2022 2021

$'m $'m

Current 275 341
Non-current 59 9.
As at 31 December 33.4 43.2
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17.

Borrowings
2022 2021
$'m $'m
Non-current hnrrmadng s raT 172.0
As at 31 December 272.7 172.0

In 2022 $730.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $365.0 million of A ordinary shares and $365.0 million
of Growth Preference Shares.

The terms attached to the Growth Preference Shares issued are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Growth Preference Shares have no fixed regayment date but carry rights to preferential settlement in the event
of certain contingent events including sale of the Company’s shaies and will automatically convert into ordinary
shares in certain circumstances, including in the event that the Company’s shareholders holding the greatest
humber of Growth Preference Shares and Z ordinary shares agree to serve s conversion notice on the Company.

The Growth Preference Shares have been accounted for as a compound instrument, which coemprises both an
equity component and a financial liability to reflect the Company’s obligation to deliver a variable number of its own
ordinary shares if the conversion notice is exercised. It has been determined that this liability meets the definition
of *held for trading’ and therefare is recognised at fair value through profit or loss. The value of the liability at year-
endis $253.4 million.

The net assets acquired when DAZN took control of DAZNBET in April 2022 included a $19.3 million loan from IBID.
This incurs interest at a rate of 2%, see note 26 for details.
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18.

Financial instruments
a) Categories of financial instruments and their fair values

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

2022 2021
$m $'m

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents (rote 14) 289.2 157.7
Current trade and other receivables (note 12) ves 181.0
Contract assets (note13) 67.4 49.7
Non-current trade and cther receivables (note 12) 4.7 4.7
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Investment in Stats Perform preference shares [note 23) - 256
Investment in Footballco preference shares (note 23) 9.4 27.4
Investment in Meadowlark 1.9 1.9
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables [excluding contract fiabilities) [(note 15) (524.4]) (350.0)
Current borrowings (note 17) - -
Non-current borrowings [note 17) 19.3)
Financial iiabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Non-current borrowings (note 17) (253.4) (172.0)

b} Financialrisk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The main financial risks faced by the Groug relate to
capitalrisk, foreign exchange rates, interest rate risks, the risk of defauit by counterparties to financial transactions
and liguidity risk. These risks are managed as described below.

The Group’s financial risk management is co-ordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board of
Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Groug’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimising the
exposure to financial markets.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.

c) Capitalrisk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as & going concern whilst
having enough capital to continue its acquisition strategy and sustain future product development. The Group will
continue to seek to maximise the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance
although this is a lenger-term aspiration. The Group’s overall strategy has not changed in the last year.

Atyear-end the Group was financed by a combination of debt and equity, comprising issued capital, reserves, retained
earnings and a financia! liatility relating to the Growth Preference Shares. Post year-end, the Group received extermnal
debt financing. Refer to nate 29 for further details.

The primary regson for the Group to raise debt or equity is to finance investment in rights and other costs relating to
the DAZN offering.

The Group’s Directors review the capital structure on an ad-hoc basis and consider the impact any acquisitions and
new products (and how they are financed) have on the Group’s capital structure before comaleting any acqguisition (or
financing). The Group currently does not envisage paying a dividend in the short term.

58



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

18.

Financial instruments {continued)
d) Currencyrisk

Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the entities within the Group entering into contracts with a
transactional currency that differs from their functional currency. The Group's sales end purchases are primarily
denominated in Ew os, US Jullars and Japanese yen. The Group's policy is Lo review the level of revenues and costs
denominated in various key currencies and to naturally hedge wherever possible,

The carrying amaounts of the Groug’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
are designated in a cursency other than the functional currency of the entity in question st the reporting date are as
follows:

EUR GBP JPY UsD Other Total
$'m $'m $'m $'m $'m $'m
2022
Financial assets 79.5 50.2 39.1 161.9 30.0 360.7
Financial liabilities (19.5) (124.9) (59.5) (209.3) (2.9) (416.3)
Net exposure (60.0) {74.7) (20.4) (47.4) 27.1 (55.4)
2021
Financial assets 409 283 25.2 149.8 59 250.1
Financial liakilities M7.5) 16.2) (52.0) M3.2) (M.8) (310.7)
Net exposure (76.6) 121 (26.8) 36.5 (5.9) (50.6)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the currencies of EUR, GBP, JPY and USD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity ta 8 15% incresse and decrease in EUR, GBP, JPY and USD against
the functional currency of the underlying entity. 15% represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 15% change in foreign currency
rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes related party loans where the denornination of the loanis in a currency other than
the functional currency of the barrower. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity
where the transaction currency strengthens 15% against the relevant functional currency of the entity. For 8 15%
weakening of the transaction currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit and other equity, and the
balances below would be inversed.

EUR GBP JPY usb Total
$'m $'m $'m m $'m
2022
Profit or Insgs (i) 14.9 (8.3) .1 16.2 21.7
Other equity (ii) - - - - -
2021
Profitor lnss (3.6) 1.8 (10.3) 35.5 23.4
Other equity - - - - -
0] this is mostly attributable to the exposure outstanding on EUR payables in the Group at the reporting date
{ii) the Group does not apply any foreign exchange hedges so there would be no impact of a movement in

exchange rates against USD on equity

The Group's sensitivity to foreign currency has decreased during the current year mainly dua to a lower exposurein
EUR following the change in functional currency of the main trading entity DAZN Ltd to EUR from GBP, This is due
to the majarity of the Group's liabilities being denominated in EUR.
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18.

Financial instruments (continued)
a) Interestraterisk

The Group is nat exposed to interest rate risk as the interest that is accrued on alt external debit and equity balances
is at a fixed rate.

f]  Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient coliateral where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group
uses publicly available financial information and its own trading records to assess lhe cieditworthiness ot
counterparties. The Group continually monitors its exposure to counterparties and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.

Cash held by counterparties is presented to the Board on a monthly basis. The credit risk on these funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Tradereceivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.

Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, $188.5 millionis due in total from the two largest customers
in relation to distribution deals in our European markets. Apart from this, the Group does not have significant credit
risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group
defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are reiated entities. Concentration of credit risk
related to our two largest customers da not individually exceed 20 per cent of gross monetary. Concentration of
credit risk to any other counterparty did not exceed & per cent of gross monetary assets at any time during the year.
The concentraticn of credit risk islimited due to the fact that the customer base is large and unrelated.

g) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is managed by short and long-term cash flow forecasts. The Group receives funding through parent
company loans or equity investments, which takes into account the short and long-term cash requirements of the
Group, ensuring that sufficient cash reserves are held to meet short-term working capitalrequirements. The Group
is satisfied that parent company funding will continue to be available in the future, refer to note 1 for further details
on going concern,

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s undiscounted non-derivative financial liabilities have contractua!
maturities (including interest payments where applicable) as summarised below:

Current within 6

Current6to12 Non-current1toe

months months 5years
31 December 2022 $'m $'m $'m
Trade and other payables (excluding contract 524.4 _ _
liabilities) {note 15) .
Interest and principal of debt portion of preference

- - 272.7

shares
Total 524.4 - 272.7

Current within 6

Current 5t012 Naon-current1teS

months months years
31 December 2021 $'m $'m ¥m
Trade and other payables [excluding contract
o 350.0 - -
lisbilities) (note 15)
Interest and principal of debt portion of preference - - 172.0
shares
Total 350.0 - 172.0

&0



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

18.

Financial instruments (continued)
h) Financial instruments fair value

Financial instruments that are measurad at fair value in the consolidated financial statements require disclosure of
fair value measurements by level based on the following fair valie measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted] in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices); and

Level 3-inguts for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, uncbservable inputs).

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are based on quoted market prices where available. Where the
market valug is not available, the Group has estimated relevant fair values on the basis of publicly available
information from outside sources or on the basis of discounted cash flow models where appropriate.

The Directors cansider that the carrying values of trade receivables, other receivable assets, trade payables, other
payables, and borrowings recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements are approximately
equal to their fair value.

Investment in Stats Perform preference shares

On 12 July 2019 as part of the sale of the Perform Content business to STATS LLC, DAZN received a 20% minarity
share of the newly formed Peak Jersey Topco Ltd for £160.1 million ($200.5 miilion) consideration. This investment
consisted of 20% of the B ordinary shares for consideration of $0.2 million, as well as 20% of the cumulative
preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Lid for $200.3 million.

The ordinary shares have been classified as an investment in associate and detailed in note 23. The preference
shares in Pesk Jersey Topco Ltd have been classified as an equity instrument, measured at fair value through profit
and loss. The preference shares have a cumulative dividend of 9% per annum.

At the reporting date a fair value assessment was performed based on the projected future cash flows of the Stats
Perform business, discounted at an applicable rate. This resulted in a fair value loss of $24.4 million on the
preference shares (2027: $nil) which has been reflected within the profit and loss for the period. The projected future
cashflows of the Stats Perform business and the discount rate used to discount these cash flows form the key
inputs for the fair value assessment of the investment in associate.

As these inputs were not based on quoted or abservable market data, this investment is classified as level 3in the
fair value measurement hierarchy. Refer to note 23 for a reconciliation of the carrying value of the investments in
Stats Perform.

investment in Footbalice preference shares

0n 19 October 2020 as part of the sate of the Footballco business to TPG, the Group retained a 31% minority share
of the Footballco Graup. This investment consisted of 31% of the ordinary shares, as well as 31% of the cumulative
preference shares in Footballco Media Ltd. The retained interest was recognised at a fair value of $33.5 million on
the sale date.

The ordinary shares have been classified as an investment in associate and detailed in note 23. The preference
shares in Footbalico Media Ltd have heen classified as an equity instrument, measured at fair value through profit
and loss. The preference shares have a cumulative dividend of 10% per annurm.

At the reporting date a fair value assessment was performed based on the initial fair value at the transaction date,
adjusted for any changes in assumptions between this date and the year end. This resulted in g fair value loss of §
17.9 million [2021; $5.1 million fair value loss) which has been reflected within the profit and loss for the period. The
projected future cashflows of the Footballco business and the discount rate used to discount these cash flows form
the key inputs for the fair value assessment of the investment in associate.

As these inputs were not based on quoted or observable market data, this investment is classified as level 3in the
fair value measurement hierarchy. Refer to note 23 for a reconciliation of the carrying value of the investments in
Footballco.
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18.

Financial instruments (continued)
h) Financial instruments fair value [continued)

Investment in Meadowiaqrk

0n18March 2021, DAZN Limited acquired $1.9 million of preference shares in Meadowlark Media Inc {(“Meadowlark”).
These preference shares do not provide Meadowlark with an unavoidable cbligation to deliver cash (or a variable
number of shares), and therefore the Group has classified these preference shares as an equity investment. This
investment has been classified as a financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss, given that DAZN
Limited has nat have significant influence over Meadowlark, and the Group is nat eligible tg receive discretionary
dividends.

The fair value of the investment is assessed at each reporting date, based upon investor information received from
Meadowlark. Given that this assessment is not based on quoted or observable market data, this investment is
classified as level 3 in the fair value measurement hierarchy.

Growth Preference Shares

As described in note 17, the Growth Preference Shares have been accounted for 8s a compound instrument, which
comprises both an equity component and a financial liability. The financia! liability relates to the conversion of the
Growth Preference Shares into ordinary shares in the event that the Company’s sharehoiders holding the greaiest
number of Grawth Praference Shares and Z ordinary shares agree o serve a conversion notice on the Company.
The financial liability is recognised at fair value through profit orloss and had a value of $253.4 million (2021: $172.0
million} at the reporting date.

The valuation of this liability is calculated by reference to the value of ordinary shares that would be issued upon
conversion, taking into account the fixed return on the Growth Preference Shares of 30% per annum. The key
assumptions that are used in the calculation of the liability are the probability of exercise of a conversion notice, the
expected exercise date of this conversicn, and the discount rate.
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19.

Deferred tax

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2022
¥m
Deferred tax assets 23.6
Deferred tax liabilities (1.5)
22.1

Deferred tax movement
1January 24.1
Credit to income statement (0.5)
Cffect ol mwuvermnent in foreign exchange (1.5)
As at 31 December 221
2022
$m

Analysis of deferred tax
Temporary differences arising on property, plant and equipment 14.2
Other 7.9
Total 22.1

2021
$'m

24.1

24.1

8.4
7.7
(0.0
24.

2021
$'m

16.4
7.7
24.1

In addition to the amounts set out above the Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset at 31 December 2022 of
$787.0 million (2021: $811.0 million) relating to trading losses of $767.2 million (2021: $778.8 millien), and $19.8 millicn
in relation to other items (2021: $32.1 million). The Directors have considered cash flow forecasts and budgets for
future years showing profitability and top line growth for the UK entities within the Group. As at 31 December 2022
no deferred tax assets in respect of losses have been recognised (2021: $nil) as it is not considered probable that

there will be future taxable profits available.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and
associates and interests in joint arrangements, for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised, is not

required to be disclosed on the basis that this is not practicably determinable.
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20. Changes in liabilities from financing activities

Non-cash
settlement Kl
1January Financing of New Changein Fairvalue Other December
2022 cashflows® borrowings leases FXrates adjustments changes® 2022
$'m m 'm ¥m $m m $m $m
Interest and
repayment of debt
portion of 172.0 19.3 - - - 81.4 - 2727
preference shares
(note 17}
L?ase lisbility (nate 75.2 (15.3) - &8 (4.7) - 44 65.4
n
2472 4.0 - 5.8 (4.7) 81.4 4.4 338
Non-cash
settlement 31
1January  Financing of New Changein Fair value Other December
2021 cashflows® borrowings leases FXrates adjustments changes™ 2021
$'m $'m $'m $'m $'m $'m $'m $'m
Interest and
repayment of 1,479.9  1000.0  (3,69.5) - - 172.0 589.6 172.0
Shareholder loan
[note 17)
Derivative financial
liabitity 155 (15.5) .
Lease liability (note 843 (18.6) - 6.5 32) - 6.2 75.2
1)
1,678.7 1,065.9 (3,169.5) 8.5 (3.2) 172.0 535.8 247.2

U The cash flows from loans from related parties and ather borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from
borrowings and repayments of borrowings in the cash flow statement.

®other changes include interest accrusls and the disposal of lease liabilities. The derivative was released against
finance costs in the grior year.

21. Share capital

2022 2021
$m $'m

Authorised, issued, allotted and fully paid
A Qrdinary shares of 3 389/600 US cents each 34.6 30.6
M Ordinary shares of 3 389/600 US cents each 1.3 1.3
Z Ordinary shares of 3 389/600 US cents each 1.5 1.5
Deferred shares of 3 389/600 US cents each 1.4 1.4
Growth preference shares of 3.64 cents each 0.9 0.8
39.7 356
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2.

$Share capital (continued)

2022 2021
Number of shares ‘m ‘m
Authorised, issued, aliotted and fully paid
A Ordinary shares of 3 388/600 US cents each g12.5 838.0
M Ordinary shares of 3 389/600 US cents each 36.6 3686
Z Ordinary shares 3 389/600 US cents each 40.3 40.3
Deferred Shares 3 389/600 LIS cents each 39.6 39.6
Growth preference shares of 3.64 cents each 25.9 22.3
1,054.9 976.8

Al Perform Holdings LLP, a portfolio campany of Access Industries, and a number of its wholly owned subsidiary
holdings being Perform DAZN Holdings 2 LLC, Perform DAZN Holdings 3 LLC, Perform DAZN Holdings 4 LLC and
Parfarm DAZN Holdings 5 LLC held all of the A shaies and preference shares which represent approximately 86.50%
of the equity share capital of the Company (2021; 85.79%)].

M shares are held by members of management, employees and other shareholders, who at 31 December 2022,
represented approximately 3.47% of the equity share capital of the Company (2021; 3.75%).

Z shares are held by the Z Sharehelder who at 31 December 2022 represented approximately 3.82% of the equity
share capital of the Company (2021: 4.13%).

Growth shares (‘G Shares’) are held by an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) on behalf of Directors and key management
staff of the DAZN Group, who at 31 December 2022 represented approximately 2.46% of the equity share capital of
the Company (2021; 2.28%).

Fach holder of an A Share, M Share, Z share and G shares is entitled to receive notice of the general meetings of the
Company. Holders of A Shares, M Shares and Z shares are entitied to vote at general meetings.

G shares / Deferred shares

0On 8 October 2019, 4,757,708 G shares were issued to Directors under the Group's share option scheme at par. This
scheme has subsequently been settled, and these shares are now held as deferred shares.

Own shares

The G shares issued in 2018 and 2019 were held by an employee benefit trust on behalf of the participants of the G
shares scheme. Following the settlement of the G shares as referenced above, the shares are still held by the Trust,
but have been converted into deferred shares.

The Trust is controlled by DAZN Group Limited and as such the deferred shares it holds are recognised as own
shares. The value of deferred shares held by the Trust as at the close of the financial year was $1.3 million (2021:
$1.4 million).

Growth preference shares

The terms attached to the growth preference shares issued are set out in the Company’s Articles of Association.
The growth preference shares have no fixed repayment date but carry rights to preferential settlement in the event
of certain contingent events including sale of the Company’s shares and will automatically convert into ordinary
shares in certain circumstances, including in the event that the Company’s shareholders holding the greatest
number of growth preference shares and Z ordinary shares agree to serve a conversion notice on the Company.

65



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

22.

Long-term incentive schemes
(a) Cash-settled long-term incentive schemes

The long-term incentive scheme based upon the financial performance from 2019 to 2021 was settled in April 2022
for $4.4 million, paid in cash. In the current year, a credit to the income statement of $0.9 million (2021 $0.5 million
credit) was recorded in respect of this scheme.

(b} Long-term incentive plans

Buring the current year, twa incentive plans were granted ta management at DAZN, for which the tenmis have been
set out below. Three incentive plans granted in 2021 are still in existence and no settlement (either in the form of
cash or equity) has baen made.

L TIP Warrants

Certain key management perscnnel st DAZN were granted warrants to acguire shares in DAZN Group Limited (the
“LTIP Warrants”). Each member of management that was granted an LTIP Warrant is, upon vesting, entitled to a
fixed percentage of the enterprise value of DAZN Group less invested capital. These LTIP Warrants have an attached
service condition, i.e. the exercise of the warrants is dependent upon management being employed by DAZN at the
time of vesting.

The LTIP Warrants will vest upon the earlier of an IPQ, sale, or the end of the prescribed vesting period (this vesting
period varies for each member of management but is a maximum of 4 years). If an IPQ takes place before the end
of the vesting period, management will receive ordinary shares, and the value received will be pro-rated based on
the amount of time that has passed.

If a sale takes place before the end of the vesting period, DAZN has 8 choice as to whether to settle the LTIP Warrants
in cash or crdinary shares. The value received by management will not be pro-rated, and management will receive
the full value that was granted in their employment agreements.

At the end of the vesting period, if neither an IPO nor a sale has occurred, managernent are able to exercise their
LTIP Warrants and receive ordinary shares. One member of management has the right to sell their ordinary shares
back to DAZN at 31 December 2030 for their intrinsic value, if a listing has not occurred by that point.

The LTIP Warrants have been classified as an equity-settied share-based payment on the basis that the cash
obligation upon a sale is an obligation of a potential future acquirer, rather than DAZN.

Details of the share warrants outstanding during the year are as follows:

2022 2021

Number of share Number of share

warrants warrants

Qutstanding at the beginning of year 3 -
Granted during the year - 3
Outstanding at the end of the year 3 3

Exercisable at the end of the year -

Thewarrants outstanding at 31 December 2022 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4 years (2021;
3.3 years). The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the warrants granted is $91.5 million (2021: $92.8 million).
The inputs (or range of inputs) into the Black-Scholes warrant pricing model are as follows:
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22,

Ltong-term incentive schemes {continued)

(b) Leng-term incentive plans (continugd)

Weighted average share price $95.3 million
Weighted average exercise price $95.3 million
Expected volatility 33-40%
Expected life 4-6.5 years
Risk-free rate 0.2-0.4%
Expected dividend yields 0.0%

Expected volatility was determined based on comparative companies with a high and low case volatility weighted
evenly to determine the warrant value. Risk-free rate and expected life vary depending on the grant date of the
warrant. 11 Group recagmised total expenses of $18.8 million related to equity-setiled share-based payment
transactions in 2022 (2021: $24.4 million).

The reconciliation of the opening and closing share-based payment reserve is as follows;

$'m
Balance at 1 January 2022 24.4
Impact of functional currency change of DAZN Group Limited (0.7)
Credit to cquity for equity-settled share-based payinents 18.9
Balance at 31 December 2022 42.6

Vaiue Warrants

One member of key managemant at DAZN was granted warrants to acquire shares in DAZN Group Limited, whereby
the value of shares received depends upon by how much the enterprise value exceeds invested cagital (the “Value
Warrants”). The vesting of the Value Warrants is contingent on toth an IPO or change of control happening prior to
31 December 2024, and a service condition.

No accounting entries have been recorded in the year for the Value Warrants on the basis that vesting is contingent
on an IPO or change of cantrol grior to 31 December 2024, which is not considered to be probable. This assumption
is a performance condition and therefore will be reassessed at each subsequent reparting date.

Cash-settied long term incentive plans

There are several cash-settled long-term incentive pians in place. The split of the long term incentive liability
between these schemes is as follows:

31December 2022 31 December 2021

Scheme liability ($ million) liability ($ million)
2021 Long-term incentive plan 8.9 2.7
2022 Long-term incentive plan 4.1 -
2022 Backstop Long-termincentive plan 1.1 -

14.1 2.7

Each of these schemes has been set out in further detail below.
2021 Lang-term incentive plan

Certain members of management at DAZN were enrolledin a long-termincentive planin 2021. Employees have been
communicated a cash value which is paid upon an IPO or exit event (such as a sale). Employees will receive ordinary
shares in the event of an IPO and cash in all other circumstances. The value of the award received by emplayees is
adjusted based on the ratio between the enterprise value of the Groug and invested capital at the time of settlement.

The vesting period is from the date of communication to employees (1 April 2027) to the end of the vesting period
(31 December 2023).
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22.

Long-term incentive schemes {continued)
(b} Long-term incentive pians (continued)

The abligation has been recorded as a liability, on the basis that a cash settlementis considered more likely than an
equity settlement. This will be re-assessed at each reporting date prior to settlement. The total liability recorded at
the reporting date is $8.9 million (2021; $2.7 million), which has been calculated based upcn the value of the awards
communicated to employees, adjusted for the expected number of leavers and pro-rated based on the vesting
period.

Details of the incentives outstanding during the year are as follows:

2622 2021

Number of share Number of share

options options

Qutstanding at the beginning aof year 28 -
Granted during the year 8 31
Forfeited during the year M (3}
Outstanding at the end of the year 35 28

Exercisable at the end of the year - -

2022 Long-term incentive plan

Certain members of management at DAZN were enralled in 3 long-term incentive plan during the year. Employees
have been communicated a cash value which is paid upon an IPO or exit event (such as a sale).

Employees witl receive ordinary shares in the event of an [P0 and cash in all other circumstances. The value of the
award received by employees is adjusted based on the ratio between the enterprise value of the Group and invested
capital at the time of settlement. Additionally, the value of the awards received by employees will be increased by
20% if certain revenue targets are met.

The vesting period is from the date of communication to employees (16 September 2022) to the end of the vesting
period (31 December 2024).

The obligation has been recorded as a liability, on the basis that a cash settlement js considered more likely than an
equity settlement. This will be re-assessed at each reporting date prior to settlement. The total liability recorded at
the reporting date is $4.1 million, which has been calculated based upnn the value of the awards communicated to
employees, adjusted for the expected number of leavers and pro-rated based on the vesting period.

Details of the incentives outstanding during the year are as follows:

2022

Number of share

options

Outstanding at the beginning of year -
Granted during the year 54
Forfeited during the year -
Outstanding at the end of the year b4

Exercisable at the end of the year -
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22.

Long-term incentive schemes [continued)
{b) Long-term incentive plans (continued)
2022 Long-term incentive plan with backstop

Certain members of management at DAZN were enrolled in a long-term incentive plan during the year. Fmployees
have been communicated 8 cash value which vests over a periocd two-year period from the date of communication
to employees. Each award has a longstop date, a year after the end of the vesting period.

If an exit event takes place prior ta an ernployee’s longstop date, the employee will receive equity in the case of an
IPO and cashin the case of g sale. If, at the employee’s longstop date no exit event has occurred, the employee will
receive cash.

The obligation has been recorded as 2 lisbility, on the basis that no exit event is anticipated before the employees’
longstop dates. This will be re-assessed at each reporting date prior to settlement, The total liability recorded at the
reporting date is $1.1 million, which has been calcuiated based upeon the value of the awards communicated to
employees, adjusted for the expected number of leavers and pro-rated based on the vesting period.

Details of the incentives outstanding during the year are as follows:

2022

Number of share

options

Outstanding at the beginning of year -
Granted during the year 4
Forfeited during the year -
Outstanding at the end of the year 4

Exercisable at the end of the year -
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23.

Interest in joint ventures and associates
Matchroom USA LLC

Matchroom USA LLC (“Matchroaom™) is a joint venture established an 23 March 2018, incorporated in the USA with a
registered office of United Corporate Services, Inc., 874 Walker Road, Suite C, Dover, Delaware 19304. The Group
has joint control via a 40% ownership interest and equal representation and voting rights through the composition
of the Board. The venture produces and distributes professional boxing events on an exclusive basis. Most boxing
events take place in the United States and the events are distributed via an onling streaming and linear
programming service to customers in the United States and globally, Matchroom is strucluied as a separate vehicle
and the Group has a residual interest inits net assets, Accordingly, the Group has classified its interest in Matchroom
as a joint venture which is measured using the eyuily method of accounting as set out in the Grouy’s gceouniling
policies in note 1.

An amendment to the joint venture agreement was made on 30 June 2021 which included DAZN obtaining 3 'Put
option' to sell its shares in the joint venture if desired, If this option were to be exercised, the sale would be at fair
market value.

The following table summarises the financial information of Matchroom USA LLC as included in its own financial
statements, based on Group accounting policies. The accounting policies of the Group and Matchroom USA LLC
are consistent, with no adjustment required to align accounting policies.

(8) Sumsmarised financial information of Matchroom USA LLC

Summarised balance sheet

31December 31 December

2022 2021
$:m $vm
Non-current assets -
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3.7 1.6
Trade and other receivables 1.9 2.2
Total current assets 5.6 38
Current liabilities
Trade and ather payables (0.2) (1.8}
Accruals (6.3) 0.4)
Total current liabilities {6.5) (3.2)
Net assets/(liabilities) (0.9) 0.6

Included within the current liabilities above sre current financial liabilities (excluding trade angd other payables and
provisions) of $6.3 million (2021; $1.4 million).
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23. Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Matchroom USA LLC (continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue

Operating costs

Profit for the period

Distributions in the period

Total movement in net assets in the period

2022 20
$m $m
135.9 92.8
n32.1) (90.4)
3.8 2.4
(5.2) (5.2)
(1.4) (2.8

Included within the loss for the year was depreciation and amaortisation expenses of $nil (2021: $nil), finance income

of $nil (2021: $nil) and a tax credit of $nil (2021: $nil).

{b) Reconciliation to carrying amounts

$'m
Net assets (100%) {0.9)
Add back net (contributions)/distributions 5.6
Adjusted net assets 4.7
Group’s share of net assets (40%) 1.8
Less expected withholding tax (0.4)
Investment in joint venture
(Less)/profit for period (100%) 3.8
Matchroom Holdco entitlement (3.8)

(L.oss)/profit available for joint distribution -
Group's share of (loss)/profit (40%]) *

Withholding tax for partnership

Share of joint venture (Joss)/income recognised

Carrying amount of interest in Matchroom USA LLC

31 December
2022
$'m

1.5

1.5

31 December

2021

$'m $'m
0.5
4.2
4.7
1.9
(0.4)

1.5
2.4
(2.9)

1.5

* The Greup is nat entitled to distributions until the cumulative amount of distributions made to Matchroom Holdco
has crossed a specific threshaold per year as per the agreement for the joint venture. This threshold has not been
crossed so the Group is not entitled to a share of the profit for the period. The share ofincome from the joint venture

is also calculzted after deducting estimated withholding tax.
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23. Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Matchroom Boxing Global LLP

Matchroom Boxing Global LLP is 3 joint venture established 8 November 2018, incorporated in the UK with a
registered office of Mascalls Lane, Great Warley, Brentwood, Essex, CM14 5LJ. The group has 8 40% ownership
interest, through a subsidiary company, DAZN MR Holdco Ltd. The venture will produce and distribute professional
boxing events on an exclusive basis. In grevious years, the value of DAZN's stake has been trivial so it has not been
disclosed in the financial statements. The entity was previously called Matchroom Boxing ltaly 2018 LLP, but
changed its name to Matchroom Boxing Global LLP on 31 January 2022.

The following table summarises the financial information of Matchroom Boxing Global LLP as included in its own
financial statements, based on Group accounting policies. The accounting policies of the Group and Matchroom
Boxing Globa! LLP are consistent, with no adjustment required to align accounting palicies.

{a) Summarised financial information of Matchroom Boxing Global LLP

Summarised balance sheet

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
$'m $'m
Non-current assets - -
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.9 0.9
Trade and other receivables 0.2 0.0
Total current assets 11 0.9
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (1.3) {0.8)
Other current liabilities (0.7 (0.0}
Total current liabilities (1.4) (0.8)
Non-current liabilities - _
Net assets (0.3) 0.1
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
2022 2021
$'m $'m
Revenue 3.4 3.6
(Loss)/ Profit for the period (0.0 0.2

Qther comprehensive income - -
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23. Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Matchroom Boxing Global LLP (continued)

(b) Reconciliation to carrying amounts

$'m
investrment in Matchroom Boxing Global LLP
(Loss)/ Profit for the period (0.m
Groug's share of (loss)/profit (40%)* [(¢H))]

Share of joint venture (loss)/income recognised

Carrying amount of interest in Matchroom Boxing
Global LLP

31 December
2022

&'m
0

(0.1)
0.0

31December

2021

$'m Fm
0.2
oR|

0.1

0.1

* The Group is only entitled when distributions made to Matchroom Boxing Limited exceed a specific threshold per

year per the agreement for the joint venture.
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23.

Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Peak Jersey Topco Ltd (Stats Perform)

0On 12 July 2019 DAZN Group sold the Perform Content business to Stats LLC, As part of the sale DAZN received a
20% non-controlling interest share of the newly formed Peak Jersey Topco Ltd far $200.5 million [£180.1 million)
consideration. Peak Jersey Topco Ltd is a company incorporated in Jersey whose registered office is at 22 Grenville
Street, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8PX. It is the ultimate parent entity of the STATS Perform Group, a global sports content
provider, under the Stats Perform brand, with products inclugding data, sports news, live ang on-demand video,
scores, information, statistics and editorial content. The Stats Perform Group is a sporls content source for several
key markets. such as professional sports, broadcast production, online bockmskers, social media and technology,
cable networks, interactive television and print media, incluging the leversye ul ils Livad sports rights purlfulio.
This investment consisted of 20% of the B ordinary shares for consideration of $0.2 million, as well as 20% of the
cumulative preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd for $200.3 million. As DAZN exerts significant influence over
the entity, the investment has been treated as an associate and has subsequently been equity accounted in line
with IAS 28.

The preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Lid have been classified as an equity instrument as they represent 2
residual interest in the assets of the Stats Perform Group after deducting those liabilities related directly to the
preference shares. These are measured at fair value through profit and loss. For the purposes of allocating losses
from Stats Perform, the preference shares are considered a long-terminterest that, in substance, forms part of the
Group’s net investment in an associate.

The following table summarises the consolidated financial information of Ststs Perform as included in its own
financial statements:

(8) Summarised financial information of Stats Perform
Summarised balance sheet

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
$'m $'m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 512.0 512.0
Acquisition intangibles 267.9 316.2
Other non-current assets 116.6 110.8
Total non-current assets 896.5 939.0
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 44.6 16.7
Trade and other receivables 59.5 39.2
Prepayments ang accrued income 83.8 53.3
Derivative asset 8.4 -
Total current assets 196.3 109.2
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables ma.s) (74.8)
Other current liabilities (19.9) (52.5)
Total current liabilities 32.4) (127.3)
Non-current liabilities (2,020.5) (1,973.6)
Net liabilities (1,060.7) (1,052.7)

Included within the other current iiabilities and non-current liabilities above are financial lisbilities of $19.8 million
(2021: $26.2 million) and $692.9 million (2021; $611.2 million) respectively.
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23.

Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Peak Jersey Topco Ltd (Stats Perform) (continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

72 2021

$m $'m

Revenue 397.6 396.5
Profit/{Loss) for the period 6.9 (155.2)
Other comprehensive loss for the period m.s) [0.7}

The above loss includes $31.9 million of interest and foreign exchange losses on preference shares held by the
Group that are removed from the Group’s share of consolidated losses below (2021: $100.5 million, including losses
relating to the period prior to acquisition).

Included within the loss for the year was depreciation and amortisation expenses of $79.5 million (2021: $79.6
million), finance income of $191.9 million (2021: $22.5 million), finance expenses of $56.3 million {2021: $45.0 million)
and a tax credit of $24.1 million (2021: $7.2 million).

(b) Reconciliation to carrying amounts — investment in associate

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
$m $m $m $'m

Investment in B ordinary shares as at 1 January
202112 July 2019 - _

Loss allocated to B ordinary shares * - - - -

Carrying @mount B ordinary shares investment in

Stats Perform - -
*As the ardinary investment has nil value, no losses have been allocated to the B ordinary shares, Any excess of the l0ss is then
allocated to the investment in preference shares as detailed in the following table
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23.

Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Peak Jersey Topco Ltd (Stats Perform) (continued)

(c) Reconciliation to carrying amounts - investment in preference shares

$m
Investment in preference shares as at 1 January 2022/ 1
January 2021
Fair value loss 9% cumulative preference shares
Lass for the period (100%) (13.4)
Restaternent to prior period loss 4.0)
Group’s share of loss (20%) (3.5)
Group’s share of loss allocated to B ardinary shares -
Lass allocated to preference shares investment
Other comprehensive income for the period (100%) (1.8)
Restatement to prior year other comprehensive income (0.2)

Group’s share of other comprehensive income (20%)]

Carrying amount preference shareinvestment in
Stats Perform

31 December
2022
$m

25.6

(24.4)

1.2}

(0.0)

(53.9]

(0.8)

(0.7)

31 December 2021

$'m

36.5

{10.8)

(0.7

25.6

Losses have been recognised on the combined investment by first reducing the ordinary investment and then

subsequently reducing the value of the preference shares.
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23.

Interest in joint ventures and associates (continued)
Footballco Media Limited [Footballca)

In early 2020 the Group entered into negotistions to sell its part of its Media division, comprising three
subcomponents; the football news weabsite Goal.com; Spox; and Voetbalzone, to US-based investment firm TPG.
The Group undertaok various restrucluiing dclivilies Lo form a new group (“Footballco Group”) grior to the sale. Gn
19 October 2020, the sale completed and a majority stake in the Footballco Group was sold to Digital Media GoalCo
LLC, TPG's acquiring entity, for cash consideration of $70 million. DAZN retained a 31.9% interest in the Footballco
Group, with the remaining shareholders comprising Digital Media GoalCo LLC and Faotballeo Group management.

The Group recognised the 31.9% retained interest at a fair value of $33.5 million. On 5 November 2020, a further 1%
of the Group’s shareholding was distributed to Footballco Group management in accordance with the sale
agreement, resulting in 8 deemed disposal of $1.0 million. On 30 June 2021, the DAZN Group completed the D Player
sale with Footballco Media Limited, recognising a gain on disposal of $3.8 million. On 30 June 2021 DAZN Media
Services received a loan note from Footballco Media Limited for $4.3 million, which attracts interest at 10% per
annum. On 18 July 2021 DAZN Media Services Limited converted $2,593,516.95 of the outstanding loan note due
from Footballco Media Limited in exchange for 203,679 B Ordinary Shares and 2,583,333 A Preference shares in
Footballco Media Limited. On 30 May 2022, the remainder of the loan due worth $1,931,754 was exchanged for
1,824,189 A Preferences shares and 151,708 B Ordinary Shares in Footballco Media Limited.

The Group's investment consists of 28.17% of the ordinary shares and cumulative preference shares. The
preference shares have a cumulative return of 10% per annum, As DAZN exerts significantinfiuence over the entity,
the investment in ardinary shares has been treated as an investment in an associate and has subseguently been
equity accounted in line with 1AS 28,

The preference shares in Footballco have been classified as an equity instrument as they represent a residual
interest in the assets of the Footballce Group after deducting those liabilities related directly to the preference
shares. These are measured at fair value through profit and loss. For the purposes of allocating losses from
Footballcp, the preference shares are considered a long-term interest that, in substance, forms part of the Group’s
netinvestment in an associate.

The following table summarises the consotidated financial information of Footballco Group:

(8) Summarised financial information of Footbalico

Summarised balance sheet
31 December 31 December

2022 2021
$'m $1m

Non-current assets
Intangible assets m.a 106.9
Other non-current assets 4.3 7.8
Totsl non-current assets 115.4 4.7
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9.7 8.7
Trade and other receivables 24.4 18.6
Prepayments and accrued income 5.9 43
Total current assets 40.0 31.6
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (6.3) (6.3)
Other current liabilities (13.5) (14.1)
Total current liabilities (19.8) (20.4)
Non-current liabilities 1.1 (17.1)
Net assets 134.5 108.8
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23. Interestin joint ventures and associates (continued)

Footballco Media Limited [Foolballco) {continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Revenue
Loss for the period
GOther comprehensive foss for the periog

(b} Reconciliation to carrying amounts —investment in associate

Fair value on initial recognition 19 October 2020*

Acquisition of shares on 19 July 2021

Loss allocated to ordinary shares

Carrying amount of ordinary share investment in Footballco

31December
2022

$m
68.9

(7.0
(0.0)

31 December
2022

'm

31 December
2021

¥m

2.6
(7.3)
(1.0)

310ecember
2021

$'m

*Initial recognition of the fair value for the investment in ordinary shares was assessed to be nil as the full value was associated

with the preference shares investment.

() Reconciliation to carrying amounts —investment in preference shares

3'm
Fair value on 1 January 2022 / 1 January 2021
Acquisition of shares on 30 May 2023/ 19 July 202)
Fair value loss on preference shares
Loss for the year [7.0]
Group's share of loss [30%) (1.9

Group's share of loss ailocated to ordinary shares -
Loss aliocated to preference shares investment

Other comprehensive income for the year (0.1)
Group share of other comprehensive income {30%)

Carrying amount preference share investmentin
Footballco

31 December
2022

$'m

27.3
1.9
(17.9)
(7.3
(2.2)

(1.9}
(1.0)
(0.0)

9.4

3
December
2021

$'m

323

2.6
[5.1)

2.2

(0.3)

27.3

Included within the loss for the year was depreciation and amortisation expenses of $5.7 million [2021: $5.7 million),
finance income of $nil (2021; $nil), finance expenses of $2.5 million (2021: $nil) and a tax credit of $nil (2021: $nil).

The Group has recognised a proportionate share of the l0sses from the acquisition to the year-end plus the initial
investrment as the total carrying value. Losses have been recagnised on the combined investment by first reducing
the investment in ardinary shares, for which the balance is nil, and then subseguently reducing the value of the

investment in preference shares.
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24,

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Texel

On 9 November 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capita! of Texel Live Limited (“Texel”), obtaining
cantrol of Texel. Texel is a technology company and qualifies as a business as defined in IFRS 3. Texel was acquired
to develop the functionalily uf e DAZN platform. Subsequently, in 2022, this entity was renamed DAZN Media Israel
and referred to internaliy as the ‘DAZN X' business.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set outin the
table below.

2021

$m
Property, plant and equipment 02
Right of use assets 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents 0.9
Trade and other receivables 0.2
Prepayments and accrued income -
Trade and other payables (4.9)
Lease liability 0.7
Total identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (3.8)
Gandwill (nnte R) 8.2
Total consideration 4.6
Satisfied by:
Cash 4.1
Deferred cash 0.5
Total consideration transferred 4.6
Cash consideration 4.1
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired [0.9)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition 3.2
DAZNBET

DZBT Holdings (Gibraltar) Limited (“DAZN Bet”) was established jointly between the Group and IBID Investments
Limited (“IBIG”] on 20 April 2022, incorporated in Gibraltar with a registered office of Madison Building, Midtown,
Queensway GX111AA, Gibraltar. DAZN Bet is structured as a separate vehicle. Management has concluded that the
Group controls DAZN Bet in accordance with IFRS 10, since it has an option to purchase DAZN Bet at future market
rates.

DAZN Bet seeks to refresh the casual betting market by creating @ more recreational, sociable, and relevant
experience for today's sports fan, and is on a mission to create a product that is integrated into DAZN's sports
streaming service.

The accounting for an investrnent with 3 purchase option depends upon whether the investor has in-substance
ownership of the investment. Given that the option to purchase DAZN Bet does not result in an in-substance
ownership for the Group (and therefore the purchase option does not represent consideration], and the Group ¢id
not provide any other initial upfront investment to DAZN Bet, the consideration for the acquisition is nil.

The non-controlling interests of DAZN Bet are apportioned relative to the brand & marketing fee receivable by DAZN
and the remaining DAZN Bet profit. (n the current year, given that there is no brand & marketing fee receivable by
DAZN, 100% of DAZN Bet's net assets have been recognised as non-controlling assets.

The amaounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as set outin the
table below. The intangible assets relate to licences obtained to enter certain betting markets.
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24. Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

DAZNBET (continued)
2022
$'m
Intangible assets 15.4
Property, plant and equipment 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents 23.4
I rade and other receivables 1.3
Prepayments and accrued income 0.2
Trade and other payables {40.8)
Total identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 0.2
Nan-controlling interests 0.2
Total consideration -
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 234
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition 23.4

25. Commitments
Rights commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the continuing operation had total outstanding commitments to acquire sports content
rights as follows:

2022 2021

m $m

Wwithin one year 2,333.8 1,880.7
Inthe second to fifth years inclusive 515.3 4,079.8
After five years 179.7 434.6
As at 31 December 7,628.8 5,404.8
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26.

Related parties

Related party transactions in the year are as follows:

Shareholder funding

Shareholder funding from the immediate parent undertaking and other members of the Access Industries
group has been detailed in note 17 and 21.

Stats Perform Group

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the DAZN Group entered into transactions
with the Stats Perform Group, an associate of the Group. These transactions are detailed below.

2022 2021

$rm $;m

Sub-licencing revenues 13 20
Broadcast Partnership revenues 176 1713
Licencing expenses (1.0 (8.4)

As at the end of the year $5.4 million (2021: $6.1 miillion payatle] was receivable by the DAZN Group from the
Stats Perform Group. Purchases were made at market price and amounts outstanding are unsecured and will
be settled in cash.

Matchroom Boxing Global LLP

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the DAZN Group entered into transactions
with Matchroom Boxing Global LLP, a joint venture of the Group. These transactions are detailed below.

2022 2021
$m $'m
Broadcast license fee charged from Matchroom Global to DAZN (2.5) (2.8)

There was ne balance payable or receivable to the DAZN Group by Matchroom Boxing Global LLP. Purchases
were made at market price and amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.

Matchroom USALLC

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the DAZN Group entered into transactions
with Matchroom USA LLC, a joint venture of the Group. These transactions are detailed below.

2022 2021

$m $'m

Matchroom licence fee charged from Matchroom to DAZN (94.5) (74.0)
Broadcast fee charged from Matchroom to DAZN (1.3) (1.3
Other costs recharged from Matchroom to DAZN 0.7 (0.4)
Total (97.5) (75.7)

As at the end of the year $1.1million (2021: $1.0 million) was payable by the DAZN Group to Matchroom USA LLC.
Purchases were made at market price and amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.
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26.

27.

Related parties (continued)

Footballco Media Limited

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the DAZN Group entered into transactions
with the Footballco Group, en associate of the Group. These transactions are detalled below, including TSAs
for the provision of transitional services between the DAZN Group and Footballco Group following the sale
transaction of 19 October 2020.

2022 2021

$m m

TSA Arrangements serviced by the DAZN Group on behalf of Footballco Group 1.0 25
TSA arrangements serviced by Footballco Group on behalf of the BAZN Group - (0.0
Costs paid by the DAZN Group recharged to Footbalico - 4.0
Costs paid by Footbailco recharged to DAZN - (4.7}

0On 30 June 2021 DAZN Media Services received a loan note from Footballca Media Limited for $4.3 million, with
attracts interest at 10% per annum. On 19 July 2021 DAZN Media Services Limited converted $2.6 million of the
outstanding loan naote due from Footbalico Media Limited in exchange for 203,679 B Ordinary Shares and
2,583,333 A Preference shares in Footballco Media Limited. On 30 May 2022, the remainder of the loan due
worth $1,931,754 was exchanged for 1,924,169 A Preferences shares and 151,708 B Ordinary Shares in Footballco
Media Limited. See Note 23 for further details.

As at the end of the year $0.5 million [2021: $1.8 million) was payable by the DAZN Group to the Footbalico
Group. Purchases were made at market price and amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in
cash.

1BID

DAZNBet was provided with a $19.3 million loan from IBID prior to the Group obtaining control on 20 April 2022,
This accrues interest of 2% per annum.

Access Management fee

Commencing 29 December 2021, in consideration for advisory services relating to strategic planning,
marketing and financial oversight of the cperations of members of the DAZN Group, DAZN have agreed to pay
to Access an annual fee. This fee is the greater of (a) 0.25% of DAZN Group revenue and (b) 1% of EBITDA, and
is payable until an IPO or sale of the DAZN Group shares by Access.

2022 2021
$'m ¥m
Management fee 5.7 -

There are no additional related party transactions to disclose, with the exception of those in relation to key
management personnel which are presented in note 4.

Ultimate controlling party

The immediate holding cempany of DAZN Group Limited is Al Perform Holdings LLP, an entity incorporated in the
UK and registered in England and Wales, which is the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group for which
consolidated financia! staterments are drawn up and of which DAZN Group Limited is 3 member. Al Perform Holdings
LLP and DAZN Group Limited are ultimately cantrolled by Sir Len Blavatnik.

The registered office of Al Perform Holdings LLP is 6th Floor, Marble Arch House, 66 Seymour Street, London, WiH
SBT. Copies of Al Perform Heldings LLP consolidated financial statements will be available from Companies House
or the registered office.
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28.

Post balance sheet acquisitions
Eleven

0n 26 September 2022, DAZN Group Limited signed an agreement to purchase 100% of the shares in Eleven Sports
Network Limited (“Eleven™), in exchange for 5% of DAZN Group Limited’s ordinary shares and 5% of DAZN Group
Limited’s Crowth Preference Shares. This Liansatlion completed on 14 February 2023, and signiticantly expands
the offering on the DAZN Consumer business by providing the Group with the rights to top football leagues in
Portugal and Belgium, as well as a market presence in Taiwan and other Southeast Asian markets. In addition, this
transaction provides the Group with a new revenue stream in social media via Eleven’s subsidiary Team Whistle

The fair value of the ordinary and Growth Preference Shares issued as part of the consideration paid for Eleven was
determined on the basis of the DAZN Group vatuation.

In 2022, DAZN provided loans totalling EUR 35 million ($39.1 million) to Aser Investments Ltd, the immediate parent
company of Eleven. These loans accrued interest at 14% per annum. Upon comptetion of the acquisition of Eleven
from Aser Investments Limited on 14th February 2023, the loan ond any interest accrued was settled by way of
novation of the payable balance from Aser to Eleven. As such it is accordingly considered to be consideration for
the acquisition of Eleven.

The initial accounting for the acquisition of Eleven has only been provisionally determined at the end of the reporting
period. For tax purposes, the tax values of Eleven's assets are required to be reset based on market values of the
assets. At the date of finalisation of these cansolidated financial statements, the necessary market valuations and
other calculations had not been finalised and they have therefore only been provisionally determined based on the
directors’ best estimate of the likely tax values. The provisional amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable
assets acquired and liahilities assumed are as set out in the table below. It is anticipated that a significant proportion
of the amounts provisicnally shown as goodwill will be attributed to acquired intangible assets which are yet to be
identified and valued. Additionally, the balance sheet will be updatedin future reporting periods tareflectany further
fair value adjustments.

2023
&'m
Property, plant and egquipment 0.8
Right of use assets 2.5
Other receivables 4.3
Investments in financial assets 0.1
Investment in sublease 0.8
Trade and other receivables 30.6
Prepayments and accrued income 24.2
Cash and cash equivalents 4.7
Lease liability (4.2)
Trade and ather payables (105.0)
Current tax liabilities (1.2)
Borrowings (99.2)
Deferred tax liability {9.7)
Total identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (151.7)
Goodwill 585.4
Total consideration 433.7
Satisfied by:
Ordinary and Growth Preference Shares 3915
Novation of loan 42.2
Tetal consideration transferred 433.7
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 4.7
Cash inflow arising on acquisition 4.7

On 7" August 2023 DAZN acquired Atalanta Media LLC ("ATA”) to further our progress in supporting the growth of
Women's Football.
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29. Other post balance sheet events
+  Financing

Postyear end DAZN Group Limited received additional funding from Access Industries in order to fund ongoing
activity in exchange for shares.

B On 28 February 2023 $60.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $60.0 million of growth
preference shares.

- On 31 March 2023 $20.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 million of growth
preference shares.

- 0On 28 April 2023 $20.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 million of growth
preference shares.

- On 30 May 2023 $20.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 millicn of growth
preference shares.

- On 30 June 2023 $20.0 miliion of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 million of growth
preference shares.

- On 31 July 2023 $20.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 million of growth
preferences shares.

- On 31 August 2023 $20.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $20.0 miliion of growth
preferences shares.

- On30September 2023 $60.0 million of funding was received in exchange for $80.0 million of growth
preference shares.

The terms attached to the growth preference shares issued are set out in the Company's Articles of
Assacistion. The growth preference shares have no fixed repsyment date but carry rights to preferential
settlement in the event of certain contingent events including sale of the Campany’'s shares, and will
automatically convert into erdinary shares in certain circumstances, including in the event that the Company’s
shareholders halding the greatest number of growth preference shares and Z ordinary shares agree to serve a
conversion notice on the Company.

Additionally, on 28 April 2023, DAZN Limited signed an external debt financing agreement. This agreement
provides the Group with a credit facility of $100.0 million, repayable in 3 years. The loan accrues interest at the
higher of [g) the 3-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate [SOFR) or (b) 2.5%, plus 7.75%. On 29 September
2023, an amendment was made to the financing agreement to draw down an additionai $31.9 million and add
Corrum Capital to the agreement as a lending party in orger to restructure the Group's financing facilities.

«  Rights commitments

Post year end significant new material rights contracts have been entered into for approximately $5.6 billion
during the period up to the end of 2033.
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2022 2021 2020
Notes ¥m ¥m ¥m
Restated' Restated’
Nen-current assets
Intangible fixed assets 2.4 - -
Investments in subsidiaries 2/3 6,530.1 5,606.8 2,962.9
Investments in associate 4 0.2 0.2 0.2
Investments in Stats Perform preference shares 4 47.4 71.8 7.8
Trade and other receivables 5 37.0 178.2 1,607.8
6,617.1 5,855.0 4,642.7
Current assets
Trade and ather receivables 5 39.2 0.2 0z
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2 0.3 0.2
39.4 0.5 0.4
Total assets 6,656.5 5,855.5 4,643.1
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 5] (318.5) (253.8) (201.4)
Borrowings 7 - - (1,479.9)
Derivative liability (15.5)
(318.5) (253.6) (1,696.8)
Net current liabilities (279.1) [253.0) (1,696.4)
Non-current liabitities
Borrowings 7 (253.4) (172.0) -
Total lisbilities (571.9) [425.6) (1,696.8)
Net assets 6,084.6 5,4299 2,8946.3
Equity
Called-up share capital 8 39.7 3586 7.7
Share premium 8 6,612.6 5,838.0 2,536.4
Own shares (1.3) 1.4 (1.4)
Share based payment reserve 42.6 24.4 -
Merger relief reserve 126.3 142.9 142.9
Capital redemption reserve 51.8 g2.2 52.2
Capital contribution reserve 63.9 64.5 47.3
Accumulated deficit (851.0) {765.1) 110.8
Translation reserve - 28.8 30.4
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 6,084.6 5,429.9 2,946.3

This has arisen due to the incorrect foreign exchange rate being used when converting the investment in subsidiary
balance. See notes 2 and 3 for further details.

The Company had a loss for the year of $63.6 million [2021: loss of $875.9 million). The financial staterments of DAZN Group
Limited, registered number 6324278, were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13/11/2023.

Signed on behalf of the Baard of Directors
Shay Segev

) .
Director N\

13 November 2023
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Share (Accurnislated

lssued Merger Capital Capital based deficit) /
share Share Own relief redemptian caontribution payment retained FX Total
capital Premium  shares reserve' reserve’ reserve’  reserve earnings  reserve equity
$Im $Im $sm $ym $lm $:m $lm $sm stm $|m
[note8) [note8)
At 31 December 2020 17.7 2,536.4 (1.4) 1429 62.2 473 - 121.0) (40.6) 2,643.5
Restatement relating to _
FY20° - - - - - - 231.8 71.0 302.8
Revisad figure as at 31 -
December 2020 177 2,536.4 (.4) 1429 62.2 47.3 1n0.8 304 29463
Loss for the year - - - - - - 4.0 [875.9] 79.8 [792.1)
Taotal comprehensive loss
- - - - - - 4, . . .
for the year 0] (875.9) 79.8 [792.1)
Issue of share capital 17.9 3,301.6 - - - - - - - 3,318.5
Capital cantribution - - - - - 17.2 20.4 - - 376
At 31 December 2021 356 5,838.0 n.4) 142.9 62.2 645 24.4 (765.1) No.2  5,51.3
Restatement relating to
Eyars - - - - - - - (81.4) (81.4)
Revised figure at 31
Decermber 2021 356 5,838.0 (1.4) 142.8 62.2 64.5 24.4 (765.1) 288 65,4299
FX impact of functional
currency change® 1.3 78.0 01 (16.8) (10.4) 0.8) 0.7} (22.3) (28.8) -
Loss for the year - - - - - - - (63.6) - (63.6)
Total comprehensive loss -
for the year - - (63.6) (63.6}
Issue of share capital 2.8 B96.6 - - - - - - - B899.4
Capital cantribution - - - - - - 18.9 - - 18.8
At 31 December 2022 39.7 6,612.6 1.3) 126.3 51.8 63.9 42.6 (851.0) - B,084.6

'The merger relief reserve was created in 2012 in order to record the excess over nominal value on the issue of shares to the sellers of the
Runningball business as part of this historic acquisition transaction.

“The capital redemption reserve was created in June 201) following the cancellation of deferred shares created on the histaric listing of
the Group on the London Stock Exchange. Following a change in control the Group was de-listed in December 2014.

*The capital contribution reserve was Created in 2020 following the issue of borrowings from Access Industries to DAZN Group Limited
contained a below market interest element which was recognised as a cagital contribution to the Cormpany.

“0n 1 January 2022, the functional currency of the Company changed from Pound Sterling to US Dollars. As a result of the functional
currency and presentaticnal currency being the same, there is no longer an FX reserve.

5This restatement relates to the FX transiation of the investment balances in the 2020 and 2021 financis! statements. See note 2.
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1. Accounting policies
General Information

DAZN Group Limited (the Company] is 8 private comgany incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Comgpanies
Act 2006. The Camgany is limited by shares and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the registered
oftice is 12 Hammersmith Giuve, London, England, We 7AP.

These financial statements are presented in US Dollars because that is the currency in which the Company's
principal shareholder elected to provide funding to the Company in the year in the form of borrowings. The
tunctional currency of the Company changed in the year from Pounds Sterling to US Dollars to reflect the changein
economic envirpnment that the entity operates in.

Basis of accounting

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by
the Financial Reporting Council. These Company financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101
(Financial Reporting Standard 101) ‘Reduced Disciosure Framework” as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

These Company financial statements form part of the consolidated financial statements prepared under IFRS which
can be found at the front of this document.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that
standard in relation to share-based payment, financial instruments, capital management and presentation of
cemparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet
effective and related party transactions. Where required, eqguivalent disclosures are given in the Group accounts of
DAZN Group Limited.

The financial staternents have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom accounting standards and Company law.

The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements except as noted below.

Exemptions

The Oirectors have taken advantage of the exemption available under section 408 of the Comipanies Act 2005 and
not presented a profit and loss account for the Company alone. The Company had a loss for the year of $63.6 million
(2021 loss of $875.8 million). The Company received no dividend incame in the year (2021: nil).

Going concern

Having reviewed cash flow forecasts and budgets and having considered the financial support that the Group’s
principal sharehalder, Al Perform Huldings LLP has confirmed it intends to provide to the Group, the Directors have
areasonable expectation that the Group will have access to sufficient resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financia!
statements. As in prior periods, Access is not legally obligated to provide financial support, The Directors have
considered a range of factors in order to make their going concern assessment, including expected future demand
for the Group’s services, the revenue growth trends of the business, the history of continued financial support from
Access, and recent discussions with the current shareholders, who are also represented on the Group’s board, on
the Group’s cash flows farecast, and budgets for the period to 2027, including forecast funding requirements. For
further detailed refer to note 1 of the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has prepared a detailed financial forecast for the 12 manths following the approva! of these accounts.
These forecasts indicate that, based on management’s assumptions, the Group is likely to require significant
additional funding during this period in order to discharge all obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s principal shareholder, Access Industries (or one of its subsidiaries) ["Access”), has confirmed its
intention to continue to provide financial support to the Group to enable the Group to ensure that they are able to
meet their liabilities as they fall due and therefore to continue as a going concern for 8 pariod of at least 12 months
from the date of approva! of these financial statements. In the period between the year end and the signing of the
accounts Access has provided $240.0 million of funding to DAZN, in exchange for ordinary and preference shares,
to support its investment and growth plans.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Investments in subsidiaries and associates
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are shown at cost less provision, if any, for impairment.
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, the Rirectors are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
saurces, The estimates ano associsted assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The gstimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongeing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

NoQ other criticai accounting judgements have been taken during the current financial period.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that the Directors believe have a significant effect on the amounts recognised
in these financial statements, which have a significant risk of causing 8 material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below,

Measurement of equity instruments held at fair value through profit and loss

The Company held an investment in 20% of the ordinary and preference shares of in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd during
the current year. These preference shares have both been classified as equity instruments, measured at fair value
through profit and loss.

At the reporting date a fair value assessment for these investments was performed based on discounted cash flow
valuations. This valuation involved significant estimates of future cash fiows and appropriate discount rates. As
these inputs were not based on quoted or observable market data, this investment is classified as level 3 in the fair
value measurement hierarchy, as detailed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Vaiuation of equity-settied share based payment schemes

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.

Restatement of prior year figures

Folloewing a review of the 2020 and 2021 financial statements, it has been noted that the incorrect foreign exchange
rate was used to convert the investrment in subsidiaries balance from GBP (the ledger currency) into USD (the
presentational currency), When the functional currency and the presentational currency are different, IAS 21 states
that the assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position. In
2020 and 2021, they were converted at the histaric USD/GBP rates.

In FY20 the investrnent in subsidiaries balance was subject to impairment. The conversion of foreign cashflows in
the long term forecast which supparted the value of investments was performed at incorrect rates, resulting in the
impairment charge being overstated in the FY20 accounts. Correction ot this error results in the retained earnings

impact in FY20 adjusted below.

During the current year the cumutative imaact of restatements to prior period comparatives are as follows:

Previously reporting in 2020
FX adjustment

Restated 2020 value

Previously reporting in 2021
2020 FX adjustment
2021 FX adjustment

Restated 2021 value

Investment in
subsidiaries
$m

2,660.1
302.8

2,962.9

Investmentin
subsidiaries
$'m

5,385.4
302.8

(81.4)

5,606.8

Net Assets
$'m

2,643.5
302.8

2,946.3

Net Assets
$'m

5,208.5
302.8
(81.4)

5,429.9

Retained
Earnings
$m
(121.0)
231.8

no.s

Retained
Earnings
$'m
(996.9)

231.8

(765.1)

Translation
reserve
$'m

(40.6)

7.0

30.4

Translation
reserve
$'m

39.2

7.0

(81.4)

28.8

Total capital
and reserves
$'m

2,643.5
302.8

2,046.3

Total capital
and reserves
$'m

5,208.5
302.8

(81.4)

5,429.9
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3. Investments in subsidiaries
2022 2021
$'m $m
Restated
investment in subsidiaries as at 1 January 5,606.8 2,952.9
Additions 900.5 8,065.7
Disposals - (5,362.9)
Capital contribution far [FRS 2 charge 22.8 22.5
Foreign exchange - (81.4)
Investments in subsidiaries as at 31 December 6,530.1 5,606.8

For information about the prior year restatement, see note 2,

During the current year, additions of $900.5 million were recognised for additional issues of share capital in DAZCAY
Limited during the current year in exchange for the novation of inter-Group loans (2021: $2.7 billion). In the prior year
the Company contributed its investment of $5.4 billion in DAZN Sports Media Limited to DAZCAY Limited in
exchange for 100% of the share capital of DAZCAY Limited, with the carrying value of DAZCAY Limited assumed to
be equal to the previous value of the DAZN Sports Media investment.

The Company made capital contributions of $22.9 million {2021: $22.0 million) in relation to share-based payment
expenses recorded in subsidiary entities within the DAZN Groug,

On 31 December 2022 management of the Company undertook an impairment analysis for the investments in
subsidiaries held by the Company. The recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiaries was referenced from
a fair value less costs to sell method based on a recent valuation of the business. The recoverable amount was
found tc be greater than the carrying amount for its investments in DAZCAY Limited and therefore no impairment
charge has been recognised (2021; no impairment).

During the year, the Company obtained caontrol of DAZN Bet. See note 24. The consideration in the transaction was

deemed to be nil. Therefore, there are no accounting entries within the parent financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. Investments in subsidiaries (continued}

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 Decernber 2022 are as follows. Unless otherwise indicated, all ownership
interests are in the ordinary share capital of the investee.

Subsidiaries:

Direct holdings of the Company
DAZCAY Limited

Proportion of
oltelosacs of
issued share
capital owned
by the
Company

100%

Indirect holdings of the Company

DAZN Sports Media Limited

DAZN DACH GmbH

DAZN DACH Holdco Limited

DAZN Digital Media Canada Inc

DAZN Holdco 1 Limited

DAZN Japan Holdco Limited

DAZN Japan Investment GK

DAZN Limited

DAZN Media Australia Pty Ltd

DAZN Media Brasil Servicos
Limitada

DAZN Media Channels Limited

DAZN Software Private Limited

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.98%

Country of
incorporation

Grand Cayman

United Kingdom

Germany

Uniled Kingdom

Canada

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Japan

United Kingdom

Australia

Brazil

United Kingdom

India

Principal
activity

Holding
cormpany

Holding
company
Digital sports
media

Holding
company

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Holding
company

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Registered Office

190 Elgin Avenue, George
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-
8008

12 Hamimersmith Grove,
London, England, WE 7AP
Minchener Str, 101, 85737
Ismaning, Germany

2 Hammersmith Grove,
L ondon, England, W6 7AP

99 Bank Street, Suite 1420,
Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 1H4,
Canads

12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, England, W6 7AP

12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, England, W6 7AP

9F Ark Hifls South Tower 1-
4-5 Roppongi, Minato-ku,
Tokyo 106-0032

12 Hammcersmith Crove,
London, England, W6 7AP

58 Gipps Street,
Collingwood, Victoria
3066, Australia.

Rua Fidéncio Ramas, 308,
conjuntos 41e 43, Torre A,
Cidade de Sa0 Paulo,
Estado de S50 Paulo, CEP
04551-010

12 Harmumersmith Grove,
London, England, W6 7AP

P.No-1, SY No - 83/, Floor
17, Wing AGB, Galaxy,
Hyderabad Knowledge
City, RAIDURGAM
Hyderabad- 500081,
Telangana, India
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3, Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of

all classes of

issued share

capital owned

bythe Country of Principal

Company incorporation activity Registered Office
Subsidiaries:

Indirect holdings of the Campany

DAZN Media Holdco Limited 100% United Kingdom  Digital sports 12 Hammersmith Grove,
media Landon, England, W& 7AP

DAZN Media Inc. 100% United States Digital sports  United Corporate Service,
media Inc., 10 Bank Street, Suite

560, White Plains, New
York, 106086, USA
DAZN Media India Private 100% India Digital sports  Merican Consultants
Limited media Private Limited, 33,
Pattalamma Temple
Street, Basavanagudi,
Bengaluru, Karnataka

560004
DAZN Media Netherlands BV 100% The Netherlands Digitsl sports  Huidekoperstraat 26, 1017
media ZM, Amsterdam, The
Netherlands
DAZN Medis Poland Sp Zoo 100% Poland Digital sports  ul. Zelazna 4 40-85)
media Katowice, Poland.
DAZN Media Sales Limited 100% United Kingdom  Online 12 Hammersmith Grove,

advertising and London, England, WE 7AP
sponsorship

sales
DAZN Media Services Limited 100% United Kingdom  Digital sports 12 Hammersmith Grove,
media London, England, W6 7AP
DAZN Media Services SRL 100% Italy Digital sports  Piazza S. Babila n. 3, Milan,
media italy
DAZN Midco Inc. 100% United States Digital sports  United Corporate Services,
media Inc., 874 Walker Road,
Suite C, County of Kent,
Dover, Delaware, 19904,
USA [*United Corporate
Services')
DAZN MR Holdco Limited 100% United Kingdom  Digital sports  Hanover House, Plane Tree
media Crescent, Feltham,
Middlesex, TW13 7BZ
DAZN Netherlands BV, 100% The Netherlands Holding Huidekoperstraat 26, 1017
company ZM, Amsterdam, The

Netherlands



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3.

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of
all classes of
issued share
capital owned
bythe
Company

Indirect holdings of the Company [continued)

DAZN North America Inc.

DAZN SCA Limited

DAZN Spain SL

DAZN Uruguay SA

DAZNUS LLC

DAZN Vehicle (1) LLC

DAZN Vehicle [2) LLC

DSM Holdco Limited

Goal.com (HoldCo) SA

Goal.com North America Inc.

Spartal India Private Ltd

DAZN Media Israel Limited

DAZN Brand Licensing Limited

DAZN Production Services
Limited
OAZN PFL Holdco Limited

10G%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Country of
incorporation

United States

United Kingdom

Spain

Uruguay

United States

United States

United States

United Kingdom
Luxembourg

United States

India

Israel
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Principal
activity

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media
Oigital sports
media

Digital sports
media
Digital sports
media

Digitat sports
media

Digital sports
media

Holding
campany
Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sparts
media
Digital sports
media
Digital sports
media
Digital sports
media

Registered Office

1209 Orange Street, County
of New Castle, Wilmington,
Delaware, 19801, USA

12 Hammesrsmith Grove,
London, England, WE ?AP
Avenida General Peron, 38,
6° Puerta 3, 28020 Madrid,
Spain

Colonia numero 810, oficina
403, Montevideo

United Corporate Services,
Inc., 874 Walker Road,
Suite C, County of Kent,
Dover, Delaware, 19904,
USA (‘United Corparate
Services")

¢/o United Corporate
Services, Inc., 874 Walker
Rd., Suite C, Dover,
Delaware 19904

c/0 United Corporate
Services, Inc., 874 Walker
Rd., Suite C, Dover,
Delaware 19204

12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, England, W6 7AP
25b Boulevard Roysl, L-
2449 Luxembourg

One World Trade Center,
Flaor 72, New York, NY,
10007

1% Floor Siddhi Vinayak
Charnbers, R. P. MARG,
OPP. M.1.G. Cricket Club,
Bandra East, Mumbai,
Maharashtra, India 400051
11 Aryeh Shenkar St.,
Herzliya Pituach, 467251
12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, W6 7AP

12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, W& 7AP

12 Hammersmith Grove,
London, W& 7AP
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3.

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of

all classes of

issued share

capital owned

bythe Countyy of
Company incorporation

Indirect holdings of the Company (continued)

DZBT Holding (Gibraltar) Limited 0% Gibraltar
DZBT Limited 0% Malta
DZBT Holdings {(Malta) Limited 0% Malta
DZBT Marketing Limited 0% Gibraltar
DZBT Services (UK) Limited 0% United Kingdom
BetClass Italia SRL 0% ltaly
Cne Click Marketing Limited 0% Gibraltar
IBID Malta Limited 0% Malta
DZBT Deportes SAU 0% Spain
DZBT Services (Malta) Limited 0% Malta
DZBT (MT) Limited 0% Malta

indirect holdings of the Companyin Joint Ventures

Matchroom Boxing Glabal LLP 40% United Kingdom

Matchroom Boxing USALLC 40% United States

PFL Eurcpe LLP 15% United Kingdom

Indirect holdings of the Company in Associates

Footballco Media Limited 29.17% United Kingdom

Principal
activity

Gambling
Gambling
Holding

company

Gambling

Gambling

Gambling
Gamnbling
Gambling
Gambling
Gambiling

Gambling

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

Digital sports
media

The proportion of voting rights held is the same as the proportion of shares held,

Registered Office

Madison Building,
Queensway, GX111AA
Nouv, MRQO Frank Galea
Street

Nouv, MRQ Frank Galea
Street

Madison Building,
(Queensway, GX111AA
12 New Fetter Lane,
Lendon, United Kingdom,
EC4A 4P

Piazzale Luigi Sturzo 15,
Rome, RM 1478042
Madison Building,
Queensway, GX111AA
Nouv, MRO Frank Galea
Street

Paseo de las Palmeras 4,
51001 Ceuta

Nouv, MRO Frank Galea
Street

Nouv, MRO Frank Galea
Street

Mascalls, Mascalls Lane,
Great Warley, Brentwood,
Essex, CM145LJ

United Corporate Services,
Inc., 874 Walker Rd., Suite
C, Dover, Delaware 19904
Dak Hgouse, Tanshire Park,
Shackelford Road, Elstead,
Surrey, Englang, GU8 ELB

72 Dean Street, London,
W1D 356G

The following subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in England and Wales and are all included above are exempt
in the current (and previous) reporting period from the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the

audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of that Act:
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3. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
Cornpany registration

Company name number
DAZN DACH Haldco Limited 10M0432
DAZN .Japan Holdco Limited 10110436
DAZN Media Holdco Limited 13074409
DAZN Media Sales Limited 5160606
DAZN MR Holdeo | imited 1252400
DAZN SCA Limited 9675485
DSN Holdco Limited 9479148
DAZN Brand Licensing Limited 13572068
DAZN Holdco 1 Limited 08426667
NAZN Merdia Channels | imiterd 05615561
DAZN Production Services Limited 13844882

DAZN PFL Hotdco Limited 14434195



DAZN GROUP LIMITED

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

4.

5.

Investment in Stats Perform

0On 12 July 2019 DAZN Group received a 20% minority share of the newly formed Peak Jersey Topco Ltd for £160.1
million ($200.5 million) consideration. Peak Jersey Topco Ltd is the ultimate parent entity of the Stats Perform Group.
This investment consisted of 20% of the B ordinary shares for consideration of $0.2 million, as well as 20% of the
cumulative preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd for $200.3 million. The investment in associate is stated at
cost less provision for impairment,

The preference sharesin Peak Jersey Topco Ltd have been classified as an equity instrument, measured at fair value
through profit and loss. At the reporting date a fair value assessment was performed, a fair value loss of $24.4 million
was recorded in relation ta the preference shares. (2021: $nil million).

Reconciliation of the value of the investment in Stats Perform between 20% of the B ordinary shares, as well as 20%
of the cumulative preference shares in Peak Jersey Topco Ltd is shown below:

2022 2021
$m $'m
Opening investment in Stats Perform B ordinary shares as at 1 January 0.2 0.2
Investment in Stats Perform B ordinary shares as at 31 December 0.2 0.2
Dpening investrment in Stats Perform preference shares as at 1 January 7.8 71.8
Fair value adjustment on 9% cumulative preference shares (24.4) -
Investrment in Stats Perform preference shares as at 31 December 47.4 7.8
Carrying amount of total interest in Stats Perform at 31 December 47.6 72.0
Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
¥m $Fm
Non-current
Amounts owed by Group undertakings* 37.0 176.2
Current
External [oan receivable 391 -
Prepayments and accrued income 0.1 0.2
As at 31 December 39.2 0.2

*Amounts owed by Group undertakings are held with 100% owned subsidiaries within the DAZN Group.

Balances due from Group undertakings as part of the Group intercompany agreement are unsecured, repayable on
demand and incur interest at a range from 9.5% to SONIA plus 2%. All Group undertakings are 100% owrned
subsidiaries within the DAZN Group.

The external joan receivable is due to Aser Investments Ltd, the immediate parent company of Eleven and accrue
interest at 4% per annum. Upon completion of the acquisition of Eleven from Aser Investments Limited on 14th
February 2023, the loan and any interest accrued was settled by way of novation of the payable balance from Aser to
Eleven
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6.

Trade and other payables

2022 2021
$'m $'m

Current
Trade creditors 0.9 1.6
Amounts owed to Group undertakings* 299.2 239.1
Accruals 17.9 9.8
Other taxes and social security 05 3.1
As at 31 December 3185 253.6

*Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and incur interest at a range from 9.5%
to SONIA plus 2%. All Group undertakings are 100% owned within the DAZN Group.

Borrowings
2022 2021
$'m $m
Non-current borrowings 253.4 172.0

The barrowings recognised at 31 December 2022 are detailed in note 17 of the consolidated financial statements.
Share capital

Share capilalis distlused innule 21 Lo the consolioateo tinancial statements.

Employee and Director costs

The average monthly number of employees was 7 [2021: 7}, which is comprised entirely of Directors and key
management personnel, Employee costs were as follows:

2022 2021

$'m $'m

Wages and salaries 9.6 14.7
Social security costs 0.9 1.2
Pension costs 0.2 0.2
Contingent cash settled share-based payment scheme - -
Total 10.7 18.1

Remuneration of the highest paid Director is disclosed in note 4 of the consolidated financia! statemeants,
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2022

10. Long-termincentive schemes

1.

2.

0n17 July 2018, the Board of Directors approved the grant of Growth Shares (“G Shares”] to Executive Directors of the
Group for nil consideration. The shares were awarded on 24 September 2018 and 29 October 2018 respectively.

During 2021, the Group decided to close the G Share incentive scheme resulting in all 27,794,857 outstanding shares
being transferred back to the Employee Benefit Trust as deferred shares. The G shares were determined to have a
fair value of nil at the date of transfer (based on the share options not meeting the required vesting conditions),
resulting in no cash settlement being paid to holders. Given that the share-based payment liability was nil at 31
December 2020, and no cash was paid upon settlement, no accounting entry was requited upon canceliation of the
scheme.

The LTIP Warranis, Value Warrants and IPO Warrants described in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
would allbe settled by anissuance of shares by the Company. As described in note 22, a share-based payment reserve
has only been recorded in respect of the LTIP Warrants. Of the three employees granted LTIP Warrants, ong is
contracted with the Company and the other two are empioyed by subsidiaries of the Company. The Campany will not
be reimbursed for issuing shares on behalf of its subsidisries, and therefore the share-based payment reserve relating
to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries represents a capital contribution.

Therefare, in respect of the equity-settled scheme, the company recorded a share-based payment expense during
the periogd of $2.9 million, in respect of the emgaloyee contracted by the Company, and an investment in subsidiary of
$16.0 million in respect of the employees contracted by subsidiaries of the Company. The Company will record a
share-based payment reserve of $42.6 million (which is consistent with the share-based pasyment reserve recorded
by the Group)

In respect of the cash-settled scheme, the Company recorded an accrual of $14.1 million for a share based payment
liability.

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for further details on the inputs and assumptions used in
determining the share-based payment charge.

Subsequent events
Subseguent events are disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
Ultimate controlling party

The ultimate controlling party is disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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